
  
   

Agenda 
 
 

C I T Y   C O U N C I L 
 

May 16, 2022 
 

1.   Call to Order – 7:00 P.M. – City Council Chambers  
 

 2. Recitation – Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag of the United States of America 
 

3. Roll Call 
 
4. Presentation – Hear presentation by representatives of Dennis, Gartland & Niergarth, 

Traverse City, concerning Financial Statements and Report of 
Independent Certified Public Accountants of the annual audit of the 
City’s fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 

 
5.  Consent Agenda – Adoption of a proposed resolution that would confirm approval of the 

following: 
  

(a) May 2, 2022 regular session City Council meeting minutes 
 

(b) Acknowledge receipt of a report concerning certain administrative 
transactions since May 2, 2022 

 
6. Miscellaneous Public Comments 

 
7. City Manager Updates 
 
8. New Business – Adoption of a proposed resolution that would establish property tax 

millage rates for 2022 and that would authorize appropriations of 
property-tax revenues to various City funds as previously had been 
approved as part of the City’s 2022 Annual Budget 

 
9. City Council Comments 

 
10. Adjournment 
 
 
 
 

 

Alternatively, join the meeting via the Zoom platform 
 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84590611794 

Meeting ID:   845 9061 1794 
+1 646 558 8656 US (New York) 

Persons with disabilities who require assistance in order to participate in the electronic public meeting should 
contact the City Clerk at the earliest opportunity by emailing aterry@petoskey.us or by calling 231-347-2500 to 
request assistance. 
 

Persons interested in addressing the City Council during the meeting under public comment period can press 
the “raise hand” button or send a chat message in Zoom or by phone press *9. 
 

Public meetings are being monitored and violations of statutes will be prosecuted. 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84590611794
mailto:aterry@petoskey.us


  
   

                  Agenda Memo 

 
BOARD: City Council 
 
MEETING DATE: May 16, 2022 PREPARED:  May 5, 2022 
 
AGENDA SUBJECT: Audit Report Presentation 
 
RECOMMENDATION: That the City Council hear this presentation 
                                                                                                                                                       
 
Representatives of Dennis, Gartland & Niergarth, Traverse City, will virtually attend the May 16 
City Council meeting to provide information and respond to questions about the Financial 
Statements and Report of Independent Certified Public Accountants (enclosed with agenda 
materials) of the annual audit for the City's fiscal year ended December 31, 2021. 
 
The 2021 annual audit can be viewed on the City’s website using the following link: 
www.petoskey.us/audit 
 
 
 
 
 
sb 
Enclosure 
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Governmental net position increased by $2,127,019.
Business-type net position increased by $1,099,976.

Component units net position increased by $508,351.

Governmental activities $12.8 million.

Business-type activities $15.4 million.

Component units activities $2.5 million.

Governmental activities $10.7 million.
Business-type activities $14.3 million.
Component units activities $2.0 million.

Management's Discussion and Analysis
December 31, 2021

The City performed a complete reconstruction of Greenwood Road and included new asphalt, curb and gutter, storm water 
management, street lights and replacement of water and sewer mains.

Project Highlights

The City resurfaced portions of the following streets as part of a mill and fill program; Washington, Franklin, Harvey, Lookout, West 
Jefferson and Connable.

The electric system received upgrades the Petoskey substation capacitor banks and conversion from overhead to underground 
residential service on portions of; Waukazoo, Rush, Beech and Pearl Streets.

The financial statements provide two views of the City’s financial position.  Government-wide statements are the top level which 
summarizes all City funds into two statements using the full accrual method of accounting.  This method of accounting is similar to 
private sector for profit accounting. 

Government-wide statements include the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities.  The Statement of Net Position 
includes:  assets, liabilities, deferred outflows and inflows and the resulting difference between the two called net positions.  Changes 
in net position can be reviewed to determine financial strength with increases to net position perceived as a sign of improving 
condition.

The Statement of Activities presents revenues and expenses (including depreciation) that are the underlying cause of changes in net 
position.  Capital projects are excluded from this statement since they are included in the Statement of Net Position as additions to 
capital assets.

Overview of Statements

The City of Petoskey’s financial statements consists of a series of financial reports.  The Statement of Net Position and the Statement 
of Activities provide information about the activities of the City as a whole and presents a longer-term view of the City’s finances.  
Fund financial statements tell how the services were financed in the short-term, as well as what remains for future spending.  Fund 
financial statements also report the City’s operations in more detail than the government-wide financial statements.

The City’s net position increased by $3,735,346 or 4.2% in 2021 with the increase made up of the following:

Total revenues and transfers for the year are $30.7 million and are made up of the following:

Total expenses for the year are $27.0 million and are made up of the following:

The General Fund on a current financial resources basis experienced a decrease of $65,027 in fund balance resulting in a total fund 
balance at year-end of $5,512,337.

Financial Highlights
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Financial Statement Presentation - continued

Proprietary funds use the full accrual method of accounting for both government-wide and fund level financial statements.  There are 
two types of proprietary funds:  enterprise and internal service funds.  Enterprise funds are used to account for operations that are 
financed and operated in a manner similar to private business enterprises where costs for goods and services provided to the general 
public are recovered primarily through user charges.  The City’s enterprise funds include the Electric, Water and Sewer, and 
Downtown Management Parking Funds, although the Downtown Management Parking Fund is included as a component unit.

Internal service funds are like enterprise funds except that they only provide goods or services to City departments and agencies.  The 
City’s internal service fund is the Motor Pool Fund.  Internal service funds are consolidated into the governmental activities in the 
government-wide statements and are presented separately in the fund level statements.

Component units are separate legal entities for which the City has some level of financial accountability and oversight control.  
Component units are shown in a separate column of the government-wide financial statements.  The City’s component units include 
the Tax Increment Finance Authority, Library and Downtown Management Parking Funds.  The City also has a fiduciary component 
unit for the Defined Contribution Pension Trust Fund that is shown as a separate column of the fiduciary financial statements.  
Separate financial statements for the component units are not required and none are issued.

Fund financial statements under GASB Statement 34 separate funds into major and nonmajor categories.  Major funds focus on funds 
with a large amount of financial activities which results in the inclusion of more detailed information.  Governmental Funds for the 
City of Petoskey include the following major funds:

Non major funds are smaller funds with less activity and are consolidated into one column in the fund financial statements.  
Additional and more detailed information on nonmajor funds is presented after the notes to the financial statements.

The City’s funds are organized on the basis of individual funds with each fund having a separate set of self-balancing accounts that 
comprise its assets, liabilities, fund equity, revenues and expenditures, or expenses as appropriate.  Funds are classified as 
governmental, proprietary or fiduciary in nature.

- General Fund
- Right of Way Fund

Fund Type Statements

Governmental funds make up the funds included within the governmental activities column of the government-wide statements 
discussed above except for the internal service fund (Motor Pool) that is included in government-wide statements and is not a 
governmental fund.  Governmental funds utilize a modified accrual basis of accounting that focuses on more available and spendable 
resources and expenses like debt payments and capital purchases.  Long-term debt and depreciation are not recorded under the 
modified accrual basis of accounting.

This varies from the full accrual basis of accounting used in the government-wide statements that records the purchase of capital items 
as assets and depreciates them over time and records long-term debt as a liability reducing the principal portion from the liability 
when paid and only expensing interest.  There are also other less significant differences between the two accounting methods.
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Financial Analysis

Summary of Net Position
December 31, 

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Assets

Current and other 13,254,617$      11,779,545$      24,261,050$    23,200,751$        37,515,667$    34,980,296$    

Capital assets 24,100,903        24,243,870        39,011,428      40,270,288          63,112,331      64,514,158     

Total assets 37,355,520        36,023,415        63,272,478      63,471,039          100,627,998    99,494,454     

Deferred outflow of

resources 763,176             622,820             217,870           256,630              981,046           879,450          

Total assets and deferred 

outflows of resources 38,118,696        36,646,235        63,490,348      63,727,669          101,609,044    100,373,904    

Liabilities
Current liabilities 989,095             624,614             1,419,801        1,708,343           2,408,896        2,332,957       

Non-current

liabilities 1,251,075          3,340,984          8,692,895        10,222,808          9,943,970        13,563,792     

Total liabilities 2,240,170          3,965,598          10,112,696      11,931,151          12,352,866      15,896,749     

Deferred inflows of

resources 1,748,789          677,919             682,678           201,520              2,431,467        879,439          

Net position

Invested in capital

assets, net of related debt 23,743,927        23,778,149        29,666,345      29,984,315          53,410,272      53,762,464     

Restricted 5,238,920          4,384,868          2,440,710        2,480,642           7,679,630        6,865,510       

Unrestricted 5,146,890          3,839,701          20,587,919      19,130,041          25,734,809      22,969,742     

Total net position 34,129,737        32,002,718        52,694,974      51,594,998          86,824,711      83,597,716     

Total liabilities, 

deferred inflows of

resources and

net position 38,118,696$      36,646,235$      63,490,348$    63,727,669$        101,609,044$  100,373,904$  

Borrowing capital will increase current assets and long-term debt.

Common Effects to Net Position

Total net position of the City is $86,824,711 which includes $53,410,272 in capital assets net of debt.  Capital assets are largely made 
up of electric, water, sewer and street systems assets.

There are a number of transactions in the normal course of business that will affect the comparability of the Summary of Net Position 
presentation.

The net result of business activities for the year will impact (increase/decrease) current assets and/or net position.

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total Primary Government

Spending of borrowed proceeds on capital projects will reduce current assets and increase capital assets while having no impact on 
invested in capital assets, net of debt.

Spending non-borrowed current assets on capital projects will reduce current assets and increase capital assets while reducing 
unrestricted net position and increasing invested in capital assets net of debt.

Increases in the actuarial estimated future pension liability will increase long-term liabilities, and related deferred outflows of 
resources, and reduce unrestricted net position.

Principal payment on debt will reduce current assets, long-term debt and unrestricted net position while increasing invested in capital 
assets, net of related debt.

The reduction of capital assets due to annual depreciation will reduce capital assets and invested in capital assets, net of debt.
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Financial Analysis - continued

Changes in Net Position
December 31,

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Revenues

Program revenues:

Charges for services 2,771,320$            2,055,818$           17,025,799$       16,019,612$           19,797,119$       18,075,430$      

Operating grants

and contributions 1,362,986              1,122,400             175,595              181,835                  1,538,581           1,304,235          

Capital grants and

contributions 76,412                   237,614                84,555                121,315                  160,967              358,929             

4,210,718              3,415,832             17,285,949         16,322,762             21,496,667         19,738,594        

General revenues:

Property taxes 5,581,034              5,880,000             -                          -                              5,581,034           5,880,000          

State shared revenue 623,961                 552,383                -                          -                              623,961              552,383             

Investment earnings 128,955                 198,882                173,358              270,920                  302,313              469,802             

Unrealized gain (loss)

on investments (2,431)                   (1,282)                   (93,206)               44,233                    (95,637)              42,951               

6,331,519              6,629,983             80,152                315,153                  6,411,671           6,945,136          

Total revenues 10,542,237            10,045,815           17,366,101         16,637,915             27,908,338         26,683,730        

Expenses

Program expenses

Legislative 27,229                   8,469                    -                          -                              27,229                8,469                 

General government 1,890,194              1,910,886             -                          -                              1,890,194           1,910,886          

Public safety 2,835,735              2,742,612             -                          -                              2,835,735           2,742,612          

Public works 3,234,006              3,323,289             -                          -                              3,234,006           3,323,289          

Health and social serivces -                            -                            -                          -                              -                          -                     

Recreation and culture 2,294,275              2,053,621             -                          -                              2,294,275           2,053,621          

Other 1,646                     1,740                    -                          -                              1,646                  1,740                 

Interest on long-term debt 70,155                   77,386                  -                          -                              70,155                77,386               

Unallocated depreciation 320,378                 304,593                -                          -                              320,378              304,593             

Water and sewer -                            -                            4,344,452           4,087,003               4,344,452           4,087,003          

Electric -                            -                            9,922,073           9,268,350               9,922,073           9,268,350          

Total expenses 10,673,618            10,422,596           14,266,525         13,355,353             24,940,143         23,777,949        

Changes in net position 

before transfers (131,381)               (376,781)               3,099,576           3,282,562               2,968,195           2,905,781          

Transfers 2,258,400              2,280,800             (1,999,600)          (2,033,500)              258,800              247,300             

Changes in net position 2,127,019              1,904,019             1,099,976           1,249,062               3,226,995           3,153,081          

Net position - beginning of year 32,002,718            30,098,699           51,594,998         50,345,936             83,597,716         80,444,635        

Net position - end of year 34,129,737$          32,002,718$         52,694,974$       51,594,998$           86,824,711$       83,597,716$      

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total Primary Government
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Financial Analysis - continued

General Fund Budgetary Highlights

Total revenues of $10,542,237 for governmental activities during 2021 were $496,422 more than the $10,045,815 during 2020.  The 
operating grants and contributions in Governmental Activities totaled $1,362,986 for 2021, an increase of $240,586 from 2020’s 
$1,122,400.  Capital grants and contributions decreased by $161,202 from 2020’s $237,614 to $76,412 in 2021.  Property tax totaled 
$5,281,034 in 2021, down $298,966 from 2020’s total of $5,880,000.  The remaining change is due to an approximate increase of 
$715,500 in charges for services and a decrease of approximately $71,000 in investment earnings.

GASB 68 requires employers to report net position benefits as a liability in the Statement of Net Position, which amounts to $ 976,541 
city wide (including Library) at year end 2021.  Additional pension information required by GASB 68 may be found in Note M of the 
financial statements.

Charges for services in Business-type Activities totaled $17,025,779 in 2021, an increase of $1,006,187 from $16,019,612 in 2020.  
Water and Sewer Fund monthly billing charges increased during the year by a total of $132,879, while the Electric Fund monthly 
billing charges increased by $852,029. Water usage realized a net decrease of approximately 30,000 cubic feet in 2021 compared to 
2020, while sewer usage realized a net decrease of approximately 29,000 cubic feet, with the increase in revenue due to a rate 
increases.  The increase in monthly billing charges to electric customers results from a increase in use of approximately 3,351,000 
kWhs from the previous year.

Revenues from all sources total $27,908,338, of which $10,542,237 is from governmental activities and $17,366,101 from business-
type activities. Total revenues from governmental activities include $5,581,034 in property taxes accounting for 53% of the funds and 
$2,771,320, or 26% from charges for services.  Business-type activity receives the vast majority of revenues through charges for 
services totaling $17,025,779 during 2021.

Expenses under the full accrual basis of accounting for governmental activities totaled $ 10,673,618 which includes depreciation on 
such items as buildings and infrastructure amounting to $1,807,494.  Total expense does not include capital asset items such as street 
and sidewalk improvements. Public safety accounts for $2,835,735 or 27% of expenses while public works totals $3,234,006 or 30%. 
Expenses for general government were $1,890,194 or 18% of expenses and for recreation and cultural were $2,294,275, or 21% of 
expenses.

Expenses for business-type activities total $14,266,525 which consists of $9,922,703 or 70% from the electric system and $4,344,452 
or 30% from the water and sewer systems.  Within the electric system $6,439,828 or 65% of the expense is for purchased power. 
Total water and sewer system costs of $4,344,452 are broken down between the two at $1,737,781 or 40% water and $2,606,671 or 
60% sewer.

Total General Fund revenues of $6,830,234 were less than total budgeted revenues of $6,529,800 by $300,434.  Actual revenues 
increased from 2020 by approximately $80,500.

Total General Fund expenditures of $9,140,961 were $71,961 lower than total budgeted expenditures of $9,069,000.  Total 
expenditures for 2021 were higher than the 2020 total of $8,459,207 by $ 681,754.
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Capital Assets

December 31 (net of depreciation), 

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Land and land rights 4,070,713$        4,070,713$        -$                    -$                        4,070,713$      4,070,713$     

Land improvements 2,728,627          2,468,827          -                      -                          2,728,627        2,468,827       

Buildings 2,580,126          2,739,088          -                      -                          2,580,126        2,739,088       

Equipment 4,007,189          4,112,661          -                      -                          4,007,189        4,112,661       

Streets and sidewalks 10,714,248        10,852,581        -                      -                          10,714,248      10,852,581     
Electric system -                         -                        13,592,985      14,350,422          13,592,985      14,350,422     

Water system -                         -                        10,704,227      10,655,765          10,704,227      10,655,765     
Sewer system -                         -                        14,714,216      15,264,101          14,714,216      15,264,101     

Total capital assets 24,100,903$      24,243,870$      39,011,428$    40,270,288$        63,112,331$    64,514,158$    

Capital Assets and Debt Administration

Governmental Activities

Buildings 362,736$     
Infrastructure 64,438         
Land improvements 474,380       
Equipment 780,440       

Business-Type Activities

Electric system improvements 468,303$     
Water and Sewer system improvements 832,043       
Water and Sewer building improvements 89,999         

Bond Debt

Debt Schedule

December 31,
2021 2020

Governmental Activities
General obligation bonds:

Municipal facilities - marina 340,485$     443,734$        

Business-Type Activities
Revenue bonds:

Sewer system improvements 4,125,000    5,035,000       
Water system improvements 4,435,000    4,630,000       

8,560,000    9,665,000       

8,900,485$  10,108,734$   

As of year-end the City of Petoskey had $63,112,331 invested in capital assets as reflected in the following schedule:

The City had $8,900,485 of face value in outstanding bond debt at year-end which is distributed in the following debt schedule:

Major capital asset additions for 2021 include:

Capital Assets and Debt Administration

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total Primary Government
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Economic Factors

Contacting the City’s Financial Management

Electric Fund charges for services increased 9%, which was offset by a corresponding 6% increase in purchased power expenses 
resulting in net income of $196,799 while the budget called for a $231,300 loss.  Water and Sewer Fund revenues increased by 
2% as usage decreased overall by 5% and there was an increase in rates.  There are scheduled water and sewer  utility rate 
changes for 2022 and 2023 and no scheduled increases in electric rates.

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, investors and creditors with a general overview of 
the City’s finances and to show the City’s accountability for the money it receives.  If you have questions regarding this report or 
need additional information, contact the Director of Finance at 101 E. Lake Street, Petoskey, MI  49770. 

The City of Petoskey’s three largest sources of revenue include property taxes, revenues received from the State of Michigan and
utility charges.  The economic forecast for the community is dependent on these three revenue sources.

The City’s realized an 18% decline in total taxable value from 2010 through 2012 and in 2020 following 8 years the City has 
seen a 16% increase.  In 2021 taxable values were $547,185,220 which exceeded the previous high set in 2009.  The City has not 
been able to take full advantage of the increases due to the State’s low inflation rate multiplier for recent years.  The 2021 
inflation rate multiplier of 1.4% required a rollback of millage rates as will the 3.3% rate for 2022.  Property values are 
continuing to rise each year in the City as well as the State, which is a positive economic indicator.  With growth in property 
taxes restricted by the State’s rate of inflation, these increases in taxable value will still help the City’s overall financial 
condition.  

Revenues received from the State, which include revenue sharing and transportation funds, are affected as well by current 
economic conditions along with allocations to local units established by the legislature.  Revenue sharing amounts are dependent 
on the collection of sales tax, which tend to go down when the economy is slow with the reverse being true when the economy is 
good.  Transportation funds are derived through gas taxes and while they are affected by the economy they are more affected by 
the price of oil and resulting gas prices that do not always follow certain economic conditions.

For 2021 these sources were affected overall very little by the pandemic.  Revenue sharing for 2021 increased 13% from 2020 
actual amounts and 32% more than 2021 budgeted amounts.  Transportation funds received were 10% more than budgeted 
amounts and 13% more than 2020 actual amounts. As travel returned to more normal levels gas tax revenues grew and also 
returned to more normal levels.  Revenues for 2022 are now expected to return to previously forecasted increased levels for both 
revenue sharing and gas tax.

Utility charges for electric, water and sewer services tend to fluctuate based on weather conditions more so than any other factor, 
but for 2020 the pandemic provided another factor due to restrictions placed on businesses, schools and travel.  Early in the year 
usage increased for residential usage with commercial usage increasing as doors were reopened and northern Michigan was more 
opened for business than other portions of the state.  In 2021 business slowly returned back to normal and so did the utility usage.  
For 2021 electric usage increased by 4%, while water usage decreased by 5% and sewer usage decreased by 6%.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Members of City Council and City Manager
City of Petoskey

Opinions

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining
fund information of the City of Petoskey, Michigan (the "City"), as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2021, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City of
Petoskey, Michigan's basic financial statements as listed in the table on contents.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective
financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely
presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City, as of
December 31, 2021, and the respective changes in financial position, and, where applicable, cash flows
thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

Basis for Opinions

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America.  Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.  We are required to be independent of the City
and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to
our audit.  We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinions.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

-10-



Members of the City Council and City Manager
City of Petoskey

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the City's ability to continue as a going
concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known information
that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinions.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists.  The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  Misstatements are considered material if
there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment
made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, we:

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud

or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.  Such procedures include

examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the

effectiveness of the City's internal control.  Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant

accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the

financial statements.

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that

raise substantial doubt about the City's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of

time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters
that we identified during the audit.
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Members of the City Council and City Manager
City of Petoskey

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's
discussion and analysis and budgetary comparison information be presented to supplement the basic financial
statements.  Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic
financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational,
economic, or historical context.  We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary
information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which
consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the
information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and
other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.  We do not express an
opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Supplementary Information - Combining Financial Statements

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the City's basic financial statements.  The combining and individual nonmajor fund financial
statements are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial
statements.  Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly
to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements.  The
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly
to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America.  In our opinion, the combining and individual nonmajor
fund financial statements are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements
as a whole.

Dennis, Gartland & Niergarth
Certified Public Accountants
Traverse City, Michigan

May 10, 2022
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City of Petoskey

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

December 31, 2021

Primary Government Component Units
Downtown

Governmental
Activities

Business-type
Activities Total TIFA Library

Management
Parking

ASSETS
Current assets

Cash and equivalents $ 11,919,354 $ 9,951,198 $ 21,870,552 $ 732,113 $ 1,202,200 $ 1,132,988
Investments 579,240 6,817,694 7,396,934 195,526 - -
Receivables

Special assessments 22,686 - 22,686 - - -
Accounts receivable 13,612 2,094,659 2,108,271 83,371 424 157

Due from fiduciary funds 286,324 - 286,324 - 37,926 -
Due from other governments 166,730 - 166,730 - - -
Inventory 266,671 1,372,910 1,639,581 - - -

Total current assets 13,254,617 20,236,461 33,491,078 1,011,010 1,240,550 1,133,145

Non-current assets
Restricted cash and investments

Customer deposits - 216,141 216,141 - - -
Sewage service covenants - 770,923 770,923 - - -
Revenue bond covenants - 1,913,156 1,913,156 - - -
MPPA energy restrictions - 664,370 664,370 - - -

MPPA working capital advance - 459,999 459,999 - - -
Capital assets 54,179,404 86,335,707 140,515,111 4,387,323 7,294,061 -
Less accumulated depreciation (30,078,501) (47,324,279) (77,402,780) (2,244,444) (3,809,388) -

Total non-current assets 24,100,903 43,036,017 67,136,920 2,142,879 3,484,673 -

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred loss on debt refunding 1,292 - 1,292 6,502 6,373 -
Deferred outflows for

pension obligation 761,884 217,870 979,754 - 11,794 -

Total deferred outflows of
resources 763,176 217,870 981,046 6,502 18,167 -

Total assets and deferred
outflows of resources $ 38,118,696 $ 63,490,348 $101,609,044 $ 3,160,391 $ 4,743,390 $ 1,133,145

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. -13-



City of Petoskey

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION- Continued

December 31, 2021

Primary Government Component Units
Downtown

Governmental
Activities

Business-type
Activities Total TIFA Library

Management
Parking

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities

Accounts payable $ 263,851 $ 387,867 $ 651,718 $ 3,855 $ 16,313 $ 46,784
Accrued expenses 185,999 89,195 275,194 15,175 26,358 8,156
Unearned revenue 422,091 - 422,091 - - -
Accrued interest 2,839 - 2,839 - - -
Payable from restricted assets

Current portion of revenue
bonds - 835,000 835,000 - - -

Accrued interest - 107,739 107,739 - - -
Bonds payable, due within one year 114,315 - 114,315 171,752 220,000 -

Total current liabilities 989,095 1,419,801 2,408,896 190,782 262,671 54,940

Noncurrent liabilities
Payable from restricted assets

Customer deposits - 216,141 216,141 - - -
Long-term accrued expenses 66,401 - 66,401 - - -
Estimated liability for landfill post-

closure care costs 85,000 - 85,000 - - -
Land contract payable - 240,833 240,833 - - -
Net pension obligation 855,721 107,246 962,967 - 13,574 -
Bonds payable, net 243,953 8,128,675 8,372,628 1,537,253 1,585,000 -

Total noncurrent liabilities 1,251,075 8,692,895 9,943,970 1,537,253 1,598,574 -

Total liabilities 2,240,170 10,112,696 12,352,866 1,728,035 1,861,245 54,940

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred gain on debt refunding - 140,575 140,575 - - -
Deferred inflows for pension

obligation 1,748,789 542,103 2,290,892 - 28,896 -

Total deferred inflows 
of resources 1,748,789 682,678 2,431,467 - 28,896 -

NET POSITION
Invested in capital assets, net of debt 23,743,927 29,666,345 53,410,272 440,376 1,686,046 -
Restricted

Refuse collection 356,666 - 356,666 - - -
Marina 964,340 - 964,340 - - -
Streets and improvements 3,702,638 - 3,702,638 - - -
Downtown programs and services 215,276 - 215,276 - - -
Debt service - - - - 273,000 -
Sewage service covenants - 770,923 770,923 - - -
Revenue bond indentures - 970,417 970,417 - - -
MPPA energy expenses - 664,370 664,370 - - -
TIFA expenses - - - 991,980 - -
Library - - - - 894,203 -

Unrestricted 5,146,890 20,622,919 25,769,809 - - 1,078,205

Total net position 34,129,737 52,694,974 86,824,711 1,432,356 2,853,249 1,078,205

Total liabilities, deferred 
inflows of resources 
and net position $ 38,118,696 $ 63,490,348 $101,609,044 $3,160,391 $ 4,743,390 $ 1,133,145

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. -14-



City of Petoskey

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

Year ended December 31, 2021
Net (Expense) Revenue and

Program Revenues Changes in Net Position

Primary Government Component Units

Charges
Operating
Grants and

Capital
Grants and Governmental Business-type

Downtown
Management

Functions/Program Expenses For Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total TIFA Library Parking

Primary Government
Governmental activities

Legislative $ 27,229 $ - $ - $ - $ (27,229) $ - $ (27,229) $ - $ - $ -
General government 1,890,194 187,657 - - (1,702,537) - (1,702,537) - - -
Public safety 2,835,735 24,761 44,812 76,412 (2,689,750) - (2,689,750) - - -
Public works 3,234,006 802,220 1,045,946 - (1,385,840) - (1,385,840) - - -
Recreation and cultural 2,294,275 1,756,682 272,228 - (265,365) - (265,365) - - -
Other 1,646 - - - (1,646) - (1,646) - - -
Interest on long-term debt 70,155 - - - (70,155) - (70,155) - - -

Unallocated depreciation 320,378 - - - (320,378) - (320,378) - - -

Total governmental activities 10,673,618 2,771,320 1,362,986 76,412 (6,462,900) - (6,462,900) - - -

Business-type activities
Water and sewer 4,344,452 6,028,368 175,595 84,555 - 1,944,066 1,944,066 - - -

Electric 9,922,073 10,997,431 - - - 1,075,358 1,075,358 - - -

Total business-type activities 14,266,525 17,025,799 175,595 84,555 - 3,019,424 3,019,424 - - -

Total primary government $ 24,940,143 $ 19,797,119 $ 1,538,581 $ 160,967 (6,462,900) 3,019,424 (3,443,476) - - -

Component Units
TIFA $ 123,948 $ - $ 9,000 $ - - - - (114,948) - -
Library 1,359,619 152,616 545,345 - - - - - (661,658) -

Downtown Management Parking 469,172 747,778 - - - - - - - 278,606

Total component units $ 1,952,739 $ 900,394 $ 554,345 $ - - - - (114,948) (661,658) 278,606

General revenues
Property taxes 5,581,034 - 5,581,034 410,636 852,101 -
State shared revenue 623,961 - 623,961 - - -
Unrestricted interest and investment earnings 128,955 173,358 302,313 1,493 5,750 1,120
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments (2,431) (93,206) (95,637) (5,238) (711) -

Transfers 2,258,400 (1,999,600) 258,800 (236,000) - (22,800)

Total general revenues and transfers 8,589,919 (1,919,448) 6,670,471 170,891 857,140 (21,680)

Change in net position 2,127,019 1,099,976 3,226,995 55,943 195,482 256,926

Net position, beginning of year 32,002,718 51,594,998 83,597,716 1,376,413 2,657,767 821,279

Net position, end of year $ 34,129,737 $ 52,694,974 $ 86,824,711 $ 1,432,356 $ 2,853,249 $ 1,078,205

 -15-    The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



City of Petoskey

BALANCE SHEET - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

December 31, 2021

Other
Nonmajor Total

General Right-of-Way Governmental Governmental
Fund Fund Funds Funds

ASSETS
Cash and equivalents $ 5,399,776 $ 887,845 $ 4,004,932 $ 10,292,553
Investments 579,240 - - 579,240
Receivables

Special assessments - - 22,686 22,686
Accounts receivable 8,959 29 3,178 12,166

Due from other funds 201,132 82,487 2,705 286,324
Due from other governments - - 166,730 166,730

Inventory - - 257,122 257,122

Total assets $ 6,189,107 $ 970,361 $ 4,457,353 $ 11,616,821

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
LIABILITIES

Accounts payable $ 82,898 $ - $ 102,985 $ 185,883
Accrued expenditures 171,781 - 13,619 185,400

Unearned revenue 422,091 - - 422,091

Total liabilities 676,770 - 116,604 793,374

FUND BALANCES
Non-spendable

Inventory - - 257,122 257,122
Restricted 1,321,006 970,361 2,947,553 5,238,920
Committed - - 1,136,074 1,136,074

Unassigned 4,191,331 - - 4,191,331

Total fund balances 5,512,337 970,361 4,340,749 10,823,447

Total liabilities and fund balances $ 6,189,107 $ 970,361 $ 4,457,353 $ 11,616,821

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  -16-



City of Petoskey

RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS BALANCE SHEET TO THE 
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

December 31, 2021

Total Fund Balance - Governmental Funds $ 10,823,447

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are
different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.  However, in the
statement of net position, these assets are capitalized and depreciated over
their useful lives.

Governmental capital assets 46,534,965
Accumulated depreciation (26,233,474)

Governmental funds report interest when due, whereas in the statement of net
position, interest is accrued on outstanding bonds. (2,839)

Compensated absences (vacations and sick leave) are not due and payable in
the current period and therefore, are not reported in the governmental
funds' balance sheets. (66,401)

Long-term liabilities, including net pension obligation and bonds payable,
are not due and payable in the current period and therefore are not
reported in the governmental funds.

Net pension obligation (855,721)
Deferred outflows of resources for net pension obligation 761,884
Deferred inflows of resources for net pension obligation (1,748,789)
Deferred loss on debt refunding 1,292
Governmental bonds payable, net (358,268)
Landfill post-closure costs (85,000)

Internal service funds are used to charge costs of certain activities, such as
insurance and motor vehicle usage, to various departments within the City.
The assets and liabilities of the internal service funds are included in
governmental activities in the statement of net position. 5,358,641

Net Position of Governmental Activities $ 34,129,737

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  -17-



City of Petoskey

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

Year ended December 31, 2021

Other
Nonmajor Total

General Right-of-Way Governmental Governmental
Fund Fund Funds Funds

REVENUES
Taxes $ 3,763,794 $ 1,817,240 $ - $ 5,581,034
Special assessments - - 110,698 110,698
Licenses and permits 21,165 - - 21,165
Federal grants 76,412 - - 76,412
State grants 751,773 - 1,045,946 1,797,719
Contributions from local units 189,228 - - 189,228
Charges for services 1,756,682 - - 1,756,682
Fines and forfeits 12,611 - - 12,611
Interest and investment earnings 79,927 4,389 31,239 115,555

Other 178,642 - 359,498 538,140

Total revenues 6,830,234 1,821,629 1,547,381 10,199,244

EXPENDITURES
Current

Legislative 27,229 - - 27,229
General government 2,003,359 - - 2,003,359
Public safety 3,538,265 - - 3,538,265
Public works 666,568 - 1,329,927 1,996,495
Health and welfare 15,344 - - 15,344
Recreational and cultural 2,338,055 - - 2,338,055
Other - 1,646 - 1,646

Capital outlay 552,141 - 854,071 1,406,212
Debt service

Principal - - 275,000 275,000

Interest and fiscal charges - - 76,425 76,425

Total expenditures 9,140,961 1,646 2,535,423 11,678,030

REVENUES OVER (UNDER)
EXPENDITURES (2,310,727) 1,819,983 (988,042) (1,478,786)

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Operating transfers in 2,439,400 - 2,066,500 4,505,900
Operating transfers out (216,500) (1,700,000) (458,000) (2,374,500)

Transfers from component units 22,800 - 236,000 258,800

Total other financing sources (uses) 2,245,700 (1,700,000) 1,844,500 2,390,200

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES (65,027) 119,983 856,458 911,414

Fund balance, beginning of year 5,577,364 850,378 3,484,291 9,912,033

Fund balance, end of year $ 5,512,337 $ 970,361 $ 4,340,749 $ 10,823,447

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  -18-



City of Petoskey

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO 

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

Year ended December 31, 2021

Net Change in Fund Balances - Total Governmental Funds $ 911,414

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different
because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.  However, in the
statement of activities, the cost of these assets is allocated over their
useful lives as depreciation.

Expenditures for capital assets 1,207,614
Current year depreciation (1,273,976)

Net change in the pension obligation and related deferred outflows and inflows
of resources. 1,018,762

Bonds proceeds are shown as other financing sources in the funds, but are shown as a
long-term liability in the statement of net assets.  Repayment of bond principal is an
expenditure in the governmental funds, but the repayment reduces long-term
liabilities in the statement of net position.

Principal payments 103,249
Amortization of bond premium and deferred loss on refunding 5,496

Interest on long-term debt is recognized as an expenditure when it is due in
the governmental funds.  However, in the statement of activities, interest
expense is recognized as the interest accrues, regardless of when it is due. 770

In the statement of activities, certain operating expenses - compensated absences
(vacations and sick leave) - are measured by the amounts earned during the
year.  In the governmental funds; however, expenditures for these items are
measured by the amount of financial resources used (essentially, the amounts
actually paid).  This year, vacation and sick time paid was less than the
amounts earned. 20,822

Internal service funds are used to charge costs of certain activities, such as
insurance and motor vehicle usage, to various departments within the City.
The net revenue (expense) of the internal service funds is included in
governmental activities in the statement of activities. 132,868

Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities $ 2,127,019

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  -19-



City of Petoskey

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION - PROPRIETARY FUNDS 

December 31, 2021

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds Governmental

Electric
System

Water and
Sewer 
System Totals

Activities -
Internal

Service Fund

ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
ASSETS
Current assets

Cash and equivalents $ 5,544,143 $ 4,407,055 $ 9,951,198 $ 1,626,801
Investments 3,385,076 3,432,618 6,817,694 -
Accounts receivable 1,431,428 663,231 2,094,659 1,446
Inventory 1,108,938 263,972 1,372,910 9,548

Total current assets 11,469,585 8,766,876 20,236,461 1,637,795

Noncurrent assets
Restricted cash and investments

Customer deposits 154,026 62,115 216,141 -
Sewage service covenants - 770,923 770,923 -
Revenue bond covenants - 1,913,156 1,913,156 -
MPPA energy charges 664,370 - 664,370 -

MPPA working capital advance 459,999 - 459,999 -
Capital assets 36,535,164 49,800,543 86,335,707 7,644,439
Less accumulated depreciation (22,942,179) (24,382,100) (47,324,279) (3,845,026)

Total noncurrent assets 14,871,380 28,164,637 43,036,017 3,799,413

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred outflows for 

pension obligation 97,338 120,532 217,870 -

Total assets and deferred outflows
of resources $ 26,438,303 $ 37,052,045 $ 63,490,348 $ 5,437,208

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  -20-



City of Petoskey

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION - PROPRIETARY FUNDS - Continued

December 31, 2021

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds Governmental

Electric
System

Water and
Sewer 
System Totals

Activities -
Internal

Service Fund

LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable $ 343,553 $ 44,314 $ 387,867 $ 77,968
Accrued expenses 62,900 26,295 89,195 599

Total current liabilities 406,453 70,609 477,062 78,567

CURRENT LIABILITIES (payable from restricted assets)
Current portion of revenue bonds - 835,000 835,000 -
Accrued interest - 107,739 107,739 -

Total current liabilities (payable
from restricted assets) - 942,739 942,739 -

NONCURRENT LIABILITIES
Payable from restricted assets

Customer deposits 154,026 62,115 216,141 -
Land contract payable (net current

portion) 240,833 - 240,833 -
Net pension obligation (asset) (49,281) 156,527 107,246 -
Revenue bonds (net current portion and

unamortized premiums) - 8,128,675 8,128,675 -

Total noncurrent liabilities 345,578 8,347,317 8,692,895 -

Total liabilities 752,031 9,360,665 10,112,696 78,567

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred gain on debt refunding - 140,575 140,575
Deferred inflows for pension obligation 255,474 286,629 542,103 -

Total deferred inflows of resources 255,474 427,204 682,678 -

NET POSITION
Invested in capital assets, net of debt 13,352,152 16,314,193 29,666,345 -
Restricted for sewage service covenants - 770,923 770,923 -
Restricted for revenue bond indentures - 970,417 970,417 -
Restricted for MPPA energy expenses 664,370 - 664,370 -
Unrestricted 11,414,276 9,208,643 20,622,919 5,358,641

Total net position 25,430,798 27,264,176 52,694,974 5,358,641

Total liabilities, deferred inflows,
and net position $ 26,438,303 $ 37,052,045 $ 63,490,348 $ 5,437,208

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  -21-



City of Petoskey

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN
FUND NET POSITION - PROPRIETARY FUNDS

Year ended December 31, 2021

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds Governmental

Electric
System

Water and
Sewer System Totals

Activities -
Internal Service

Fund
Operating revenue

Charges for services $ 10,342,389 $ 6,028,368 $ 16,370,757 $ 1,132,640

Operating expenses
Purchased power 6,439,828 - 6,439,828 -
Personnel services 1,130,260 808,589 1,938,849 18,441
Contractual services 527,513 1,056,575 1,584,088 273,080
Supplies 6,838 16,487 23,325 118,976
Materials 226,384 289,218 515,602 -
Heat, light and power 1,086 242,298 243,384 -
Depreciation 1,225,740 1,423,465 2,649,205 533,518
Rent 27,000 62,558 89,558 -

Total operating expenses 9,584,649 3,899,190 13,483,839 944,015

OPERATING INCOME 757,740 2,129,178 2,886,918 188,625

Nonoperating revenues
Unrestricted interest and investment earnings 68,910 104,448 173,358 13,400
Unrealized gain (loss) from investments (27,169) (66,037) (93,206) (2,431)
Rent 114,200 - 114,200 -
Sewage service covenant - 175,595 175,595 -
Construction 177,819 6,305 184,124 -
Miscellaneous 363,023 - 363,023 65,074

Total nonoperating revenues 696,783 220,311 917,094 76,043

Nonoperating expenses
Personnel services 32,134 - 32,134 -
Contractual services 197,938 - 197,938 -
Supplies 19,781 - 19,781 -
Materials 53,377 - 53,377 -
Heat, light and power 34,194 - 34,194 -
Interest - 364,811 364,811 -
Other expenses - 80,451 80,451 -

Total nonoperating expenses 337,424 445,262 782,686 -

Net nonoperating revenues (expenses) 359,359 (224,951) 134,408 76,043

INCOME BEFORE OPERATING TRANSFERS 1,117,099 1,904,227 3,021,326 264,668

Other financing uses
Operating transfers in 100,000 - 100,000 -
Operating transfers out (1,020,300) (1,079,300) (2,099,600) (131,800)

Total transfers (920,300) (1,079,300) (1,999,600) (131,800)

Capital contributions - 78,250 78,250 -

CHANGE IN NET POSITION 196,799 903,177 1,099,976 132,868

Net position, beginning of year 25,233,999 26,360,999 51,594,998 5,225,773

Net position, end of year $ 25,430,798 $ 27,264,176 $ 52,694,974 $ 5,358,641

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  -22-



City of Petoskey

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS - PROPRIETARY FUNDS

Year ended December 31, 2021

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds Governmental
Electric

System

Water and Sewer

System Totals

Activities - Internal

Service Fund

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received from customers $ 10,223,672 $ 6,072,466 $ 16,296,138 $ 1,132,571
Cash payments to suppliers for goods and services (7,392,532) (1,630,717) (9,023,249) (321,473)
Cash payments to employees for services (1,262,767) (969,947) (2,232,714) (18,629)

Cash payments to other funds for services (27,000) (62,558) (89,558) -

Net cash from operating activities 1,541,373 3,409,244 4,950,617 792,469

CASH FLOWS FROM NON-CAPITAL AND RELATED
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Operating transfers in/(out) to other funds (920,300) (1,079,300) (1,999,600) (131,800)
Increase/(decrease) in customer deposits (4,143) 3,168 (975) -
Net cash provided (used) by rental, construction and

miscellaneous nonoperating activities 263,280 201,393 464,673 -

Net cash from non-capital and related financing
activities (661,163) (874,739) (1,535,902) (131,800)

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Acquisition and construction of capital assets (468,303) (922,041) (1,390,344) (474,380)
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets - - - 82,541
Principal paid on revenue bonds and contracts payable (240,833) (800,000) (1,040,833) -
Interest paid on revenue bonds and contracts payable - (415,098) (415,098) -

Capital contributed by customers - 78,250 78,250 -

Net cash from capital and related financing
activities (709,136) (2,058,889) (2,768,025) (391,839)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Sale (purchase) of investments, net (35,841) 131,062 95,221 (2,431)

Interest received 68,910 104,448 173,358 13,400

Net cash from investing activities 33,069 235,510 268,579 10,969

NET CHANGE IN CASH 204,143 711,126 915,269 279,799

Cash, beginning of year 5,494,026 5,452,110 10,946,136 1,347,002

Cash, end of year $ 5,698,169 $ 6,163,236 $ 11,861,405 $ 1,626,801

Financial Statement Presentation:
Current assets $ 5,544,143 $ 4,407,055 $ 9,951,198 $ 1,626,801

Restricted assets 154,026 1,756,181 1,910,207 -

Totals $ 5,698,169 $ 6,163,236 $ 11,861,405 $ 1,626,801

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  -23-



City of Petoskey

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS - PROPRIETARY FUNDS- Continued

Year ended December 31, 2021

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds Governmental

Electric
System

Water and
Sewer 
System Totals

Activities -
Internal Service

Fund

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash provided
by operating activities

Operating income $ 757,740 $ 2,129,178 $ 2,886,918 $ 188,625
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net

cash provided by operating activities
Depreciation 1,225,740 1,423,465 2,649,205 533,518
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable (118,718) 44,097 (74,621) (69)
(Increase) decrease in inventory (41,220) (4,454) (45,674) 10,330
Increase in prepaid expenses (158,826) - (158,826) -
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 9,164 (21,685) (12,521) 60,253
Increase (decrease) in accrued expenses 22,305 7,841 30,146 (188)
Increase (decrease) in net pension

obligation and related deferred outflows (154,812) (169,198) (324,010) -

Total adjustments 783,633 1,280,066 2,063,699 603,844

Net cash provided by operating
activities $ 1,541,373 $ 3,409,244 $ 4,950,617 $ 792,469

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  -24-



City of Petoskey

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

December 31, 2021

Pension
Trust Fund

Custodial
Fund

ASSETS
Cash $ - $ 807,076
Investments 303,251 -
Receivables

Taxes - 3,831,797

Total assets $ 303,251 $ 4,638,873

LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION
LIABILITIES

Due to other funds $ - $ 286,324
Due to component unit - 37,926
Due to other governmental units - 4,314,623

Total liabilities - 4,638,873

NET POSITION
Held in trust for pension benefits and other purposes 303,251 -

Total liabilities and net position $ 303,251 $ 4,638,873

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  -25-



City of Petoskey

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

Year ended December 31, 2021

Pension
Trust Fund

Custodial
Fund

ADDITIONS TO NET POSITION
Contributions

Employer $ 13,539 $ -

Net investment earnings
Interest and unrealized gains (losses) 37,413 -

Property tax collections for other governments - 24,575,054

Total additions 50,952 24,575,054

DEDUCTIONS FROM NET POSITION
Distributions/transfers out - 24,575,054

NET CHANGE IN NET POSITION 50,952 -

Net position, beginning of year 252,299 -

Net position, end of year $ 303,251 $ -

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  -26-



City of Petoskey

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE A - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Introduction

The City of Petoskey (the "City") was incorporated November 4, 1924, under the provisions of Act 279,
P.A. 1909, as amended (Home Rule City Act).  The City operates under a Council-Manager form of
government and provides the following services as authorized by its charter:  public safety (police and
fire), public works (streets and sanitation), health and social services, culture-recreation, public
improvements, planning and zoning, and general administrative services.

The Financial Reporting Entity

The City's financial statements include the accounts of all City operations.  In evaluating the City as a
reporting entity, management has addressed all potential component units (traditionally separate reporting
units) for which the City may or may not be financially accountable and, as such, be includable within the
City's financial statements.  In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and
Governmental Accounting Standards Board ("GASB") Statement No. 14, as amended, The Financial
Reporting Entity, the City is financially accountable if it appoints a voting majority of an organization's
governing board and (1) it is able to impose its will on the organization and (2) there is a potential for the
organization to provide specific financial benefit to or impose specific financial burden on the City.
Additionally, the City is required to consider other organizations for which the nature and significance of
their relationship with the City are such that exclusion would cause the City's financial statements to be
misleading or incomplete.

Based on this criteria, the City has identified the following blended and discretely presented component
units requiring inclusion in the City's financial statements:

Blended Component Unit

City of Petoskey Building Authority - The City of Petoskey Building Authority is governed by a
three-member board appointed by the City of Petoskey.  Although it is legally separate from the City,
the Building Authority is reported as if it were part of the primary government because its sole
purpose is to provide financing for the construction of buildings, parking lots, recreational facilities
and to acquire the necessary sites for such facilities for the City of Petoskey.  Separate financial
statements for the Building Authority are not required or issued.  

Discretely Presented Component Units

Tax Increment Finance Authority ("TIFA") - The Tax Increment Finance Authority, which was
established pursuant to the provisions of Public Act 450 of 1980, as amended, is governed by an
eight-person board appointed by the City Council.  The Finance Authority may issue debt subject to
limitations set forth in the Act and is funded by a specified annual property tax capture of a portion of
all units' levies which may only be used for activities within the tax increment finance district.
Separate financial statements for the Tax Increment Finance Authority are not required or issued.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - Continued

Library - The Petoskey District Library, which was established in 2009 pursuant to the provisions of
the District Library Establishment Act MCL 397.171 et seq, is governed by a five-person board
appointed by the City.  The Library may issue debt, but the tax levy is currently subject to approval by
the City Council.  Separate financial statements for the District Library are not required or issued.

Downtown Management Board (Downtown Management/Parking) - The Downtown Management
Board was established in February of 1994 pursuant to the provisions of Public Act 120 of 1961.  By
a resolution dated February 1, 2000, responsibilities for operating and maintaining the City's
downtown area parking system and facilities were transferred to the Downtown Management Board.
Separate financial statements for the Downtown Management Board are not required or issued.

Fiduciary Component Unit

Pension Trust Fund - The City provides pension benefits for management employees as designated
by City Council through a defined contribution plan.  The City is legally obligated to make
contributions to the pension plan. 

Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements

The City of Petoskey's basic financial statements include both government-wide (reporting the City as a
whole) and the fund financial statements (reporting the City's major funds).  Both the government-wide
and the fund financial statements categorize primary government activities as either governmental or
business-type.  Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental
revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees
and charges for support.  The primary government is reported separately from legally separate component
units for which the primary government is financially accountable.

Government-Wide Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements report information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the
primary government and its component units.  As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity such as
overhead costs, has been eliminated from these statements.  The government-wide focus is more on
operational efficiency, the sustainability of the City as an entity and the change in the City's net position
resulting from the current year's activities.

Internal service funds are consolidated into the governmental column when presented at the
government-wide level.  This is because the principal users of the internal service are the City's
governmental activities.  The net profit/loss in the internal service funds is allocated to the functional
activity (public safety, public works, etc.) based upon usage.

In the government-wide statement of net position, both the governmental and business-type activities are
presented on a consolidated basis.  Due to the full accrual, economic resource basis, all long-term assets
and receivables, as well as long-term debt and obligations, are recognized.  The City's net assets are
reported in three parts - invested in capital assets, net of related debt; restricted net position; and
unrestricted net position.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - Continued

The government-wide statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a
given function or segment are offset by program revenues.  This statement reduces gross expenses
(including depreciation) by related program revenues, which include charges for services, operating
grants and capital grants.

The program revenues must be directly associated with the function or segment.  Program revenues
include:  (1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use or directly benefit from goods,
services or privileges provided by a given function or segment; and (2) grants and contributions that are
restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment.  Taxes
and other items not properly included among program revenues are reported as general revenue.

Fund Financial Statements

The financial transactions of the City are reported in individual funds in the fund financial statements.
Each fund is accounted for by providing a separate set of self-balancing accounts that comprise its assets,
liabilities, fund balances, revenues and expenditures/expenses.  The focus of the fund financial statements
is upon the determination of financial position and changes in financial position (sources, uses and
balances of resources).

Government resources are allocated to and accounted for in individual funds based upon the purposes for
which they are to be spent and the means by which spending activities are controlled.  The balance
sheets; statements of revenues, expenditures/expenses and changes in fund balances/net position; and
statements of cash flows (i.e., fund financial statements) for the City's governmental, proprietary and
fiduciary funds display information about the major and aggregated non-major funds for the various fund
types.  Major funds are generally those that represent 10% or more of the respective fund types fixed
assets, liabilities, revenues or expenses/expenditures.

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation

The financial statements of the City are prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles ("GAAP").  The City applies all relevant Governmental Accounting Standards Board
("GASB") pronouncements.

Basis of accounting refers to the point at which revenues and expenditures/expenses are recognized in the
accounts and reported in the financial statements.  Basis of accounting relates to the timing of the
measurements made, regardless of the measurement focus applied.

The government-wide statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the
full accrual basis of accounting, which incorporates long-term assets and receivables as well as long-term
debt and obligations.  Revenue is recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is
incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  Property taxes are recognized as revenue in the
year for which they are levied.  Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all
eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met.  
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - Continued

The governmental funds use a financial resources measurement focus and are accounted for using the
modified accrual basis of accounting.  Under the financial resources measurement focus, only current
assets and current liabilities are generally included on governmental fund balance sheets.  An exception
to this general rule is long-term interfund advances payable.  The governmental fund operating statements
present a summary of sources and uses of available spendable resources.  Under modified accrual basis of
accounting, revenues are recorded when susceptible to accrual, i.e., both measurable and available.
Available means collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to be used to pay
liabilities of the current period (generally 60 days).  Grants are recognized when grantor eligibility
requirements are met.  Current expenditures are generally recorded when the fund liability is incurred, if
measurable.  Exceptions to this general rule include principal and interest on long-term debt, which is
recognized when due and accrued vacation and sick leave, which is recorded when payable from current
available financial resources.  

The proprietary funds use the accrual basis of accounting and are accounted for on a cost-of-service or
"capital maintenance" measurement focus.  Under the capital maintenance measurement focus, all assets
and liabilities associated with the fund's activities are included on its balance sheet.  Under the accrual
basis, revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recognized when they are incurred.  

The fiduciary funds are generally maintained on the accrual basis which is consistent with the accounting
measurement objectives of the funds.

Fund Types and Major Funds

Activities in Major Funds

Governmental Funds

General Fund - The General Fund is the government's primary operating fund.  It accounts for all
financial resources of the City, except those accounted for in another fund.  Revenues are primarily
derived from property taxes and State shared revenue.

Right-of-Way Fund - The Right-of-Way Fund is used to account for the disposition of tax revenues
restricted for right-of-way associated costs.  Transfers are made to other funds, primarily street funds,
to reimburse their costs.  

Proprietary (Enterprise) Funds

Electric Fund - The Electric Fund is financed and operated in a manner similar to a private
enterprise.  The intent is that costs (expenses, including depreciation) of providing electricity to the
general public are recovered through user charges.

Water and Sewer Fund - The Water and Sewer Fund is financed and operated in a manner similar
to a private enterprise.  The intent is that costs (expenses, including depreciation) of providing water
and sewer services to the general public are recovered through user charges.
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Activities in Non-Major Funds

Governmental Funds

Special Revenue Funds - These funds are used to account for specific revenue (other than general
special assessments, expendable trusts or major capital projects) derived from State and Federal
grants, restricted or committed to be used for specific purposes, and charges for services which are to
be expended for specific purposes as dictated by legal, regulatory or administrative requirements.  

Debt Service Funds - These funds are used to record revenues which are restricted or otherwise
provided for the payment of principal and interest on general long-term debt.

Proprietary Funds

Internal Service Fund - The Motor Vehicle and Equipment fund accounts for the cost of acquiring,
maintaining and providing equipment and services for the benefit of other funds, generally on a cost-
reimbursement basis.

Fiduciary Funds

Trust and Custodial Funds - These funds account for assets held by the City in a trustee capacity or
as an agent for individuals, private organizations, other governmental units and/or other funds.

Budgets and Budgetary Accounting

Budgets are adopted by the City Council for the primary government's General and Special Revenue
Funds.  The budget basis of accounting does not differ significantly from the modified accrual basis used
to reflect actual revenues and expenditures for these funds.  The budget is adopted at the functional level
and control is exercised at the fund level.  

The City does not employ encumbrance accounting as an extension of formal budgetary integration.  All
annual appropriations lapse at year-end.

Cash and Investments

The City pools financial resources of its various funds to facilitate the management of cash and
investments.  Cash applicable to a particular fund is readily identifiable.  The balance in the pooled cash
accounts is available to meet current operating requirements.  Cash in excess of current requirements is
invested in bank certificates of deposit and in various interest-bearing securities.

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, the City considers all highly liquid investments, including
all certificates of deposit and all restricted investments, with a maturity of 90 days or less, to be cash
equivalents.

Cash deposits are reported at carrying amounts which reasonably estimates fair value.  Short-term
investments are reported at cost, which approximates fair value.  Other investments are reported at fair
value.  Securities traded on a national or international exchange are valued at the last reported sales price
at current exchange rates, and investments that do not have an established market are reported at
estimated fair value. 
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Property Taxes

Property taxes are levied and become a lien on property as of July 1 on the State taxable valuation of
property in the City as of the preceding December 31.  The City bills and collects its own property taxes
and also collects taxes for other governmental units.  Collection of other governmental units' taxes and
remittance of them to the units are accounted for in the Custodial Fund.  Property taxes are recognized as
revenue in the year for which they are levied.

Taxes receivable are considered to be available to fund current operations, even if collection occurs
beyond 60 days, if they are purchased by the Emmet County delinquent tax collection program.

Interfund Transactions and Balances

Interfund receivables and payables arise from interfund transactions and are recorded by all funds
affected in the period in which transactions are executed.  Due to/from other funds are short-term
interfund balances that occur in the normal course of operations.  Advances to/from other funds are long-
term interfund financing arrangements.  Outstanding balances on the government-wide statement of net
position are captioned "internal balances".

Operating transfers in and out arise in the normal course of operations from interfund transactions and are
recorded by all funds affected in the period in which transactions are executed.

Governmental financing leases entered into between the building authority, as lessor, and the primary
government and component units, as lessees, are not given effect in these financial statements.  Rather,
the bonded indebtedness secured by the leases are reported directly by the primary government activity or
component unit lessee responsible for providing the funds to repay debt principal and interest.

Inventories 

Inventory is valued at cost, which approximates market, using the first-in, first-out method.  Inventory in
the Special Revenue Funds consist of expendable supplies held for consumption, which are recorded as
expenditures when consumed rather than when purchased.  Fund balance has been reserved for inventory
in governmental funds.
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Capital Assets

Property, plant and equipment used in proprietary funds are stated in a manner consistent with the
presentation in the entity-wide financial statements.  Capital assets, which include property, buildings,
equipment and infrastructure assets (e.g., roads, bridges, sidewalks and similar items) are reported in the
applicable governmental or business-type activities column in the government-wide financial statements.
Capital assets are recorded by the City when the initial individual costs are equal to or greater than the
following amounts:

  Asset Type Amount

Land $ 1
Equipment 5,000
Buildings 50,000
Infrastructure 100,000

Capital assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed.
Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated fair market value at the date of donation.

Interest incurred during the construction of capital assets of business-type activities is included as part of
the capitalized value of the assets constructed.

Property, buildings and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following
useful lives:

Buildings 20 - 60 years
Building improvements 15 - 30 years
Land improvements 10 - 20 years
Water and sewer lines 50 - 75 years
Streets, curbs and gutters 10 - 30 years
Sidewalks 20 years
Vehicles 3 - 5 years
Furniture and equipment 10 - 20 years
Office equipment  5 - 7 years

Long-Term Obligations

In the government-wide financial statements and the proprietary fund financial statements, long-term debt
and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities.  Bond premiums and discounts are deferred and
amortized over the life of the bonds.  Bond issuance costs are expensed as incurred.  Gains or losses on
debt refunding are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds, and shown as deferred outflows or
inflows of resources, as applicable, in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements.

In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, as
well as bond issuance costs, during the period in which the bonds were issued.  The face amount of debt
issued is reported as other financing sources.  Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other
financing sources while discounts are reported as other financing uses.  Issuance costs are reported as
debt service expenditures.

-33-



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - Continued

Compensated Absences (Personal, Vacation and Sick Time)

All employees are entitled to 56 hours of personal time starting on December 1.  The City reimburses all
employees for any unused portion, on an annual basis.  Vacation days not used during the year may not be
accumulated.  Unpaid sick time accrued represents sick time accumulated before December 1, 1990 and
payable to eligible employees on termination.  Due to contract years differing from the City's fiscal year,
unpaid vacation time represents earned but unused vacation time.

All vacation, sick pay and other employee benefit amounts accrue when earned in the government-wide
and proprietary fund financial statements.  A liability for these amounts is reported in governmental funds
only when they become current.

Deferred Inflows and Outflows of Resources

In addition to assets and liabilities, the government-wide and proprietary fund statements of net position
and governmental funds balance sheet will sometimes report separate sections for deferred outflows and
deferred inflows of resources.  Deferred inflows of resources represent an acquisition of net position that
applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that
time.  Deferred outflows of resources represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future
period(s) and will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then.  The
City recognized unavailable receivables not received within 60 days of year-end and unavailable property
taxes as deferred inflows of resources in the governmental fund financial statements.  Deferred inflows
and outflows of resources have been recognized concurrent with the City's pension obligation, and gains
and losses on debt refunding.

Fund Equity

Governmental fund equity is classified as fund balance.  Fund balance is further classified as
nonspendable, restricted, committed, assigned or unassigned.  Nonspendable fund balance cannot be
spent because of its form.  Restricted fund balance has limitations imposed by creditors, grantors or
contributors, or by enabling legislation or constitutional provisions.  Committed fund balance is a
limitation imposed by the Council through approval of resolutions.  Assigned fund balances is a
limitation imposed by the Director of Finance as a designee of the Council, or unrestricted and
unclassified balances held in governmental funds other than the General Fund.  Unassigned fund balance
in the General Fund is the net resources in excess of what can be properly classified in one of the above
four categories.

Spending Policy

When both restricted and unrestricted fund balances are available for use, it is the City's policy to use the
restricted fund balance first, then the unrestricted fund balance.  Furthermore, committed fund balances
are reduced first, followed by assigned amounts and then unassigned amounts when expenditures are
incurred for purposes for which amounts in any of those unrestricted fund balance classifications can be
used.
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Pension Plan

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows
of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the
Municipal Employees Retirement System ("MERS") of Michigan and additions to/deductions from
MERS' fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by MERS.
For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when
due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms.  Investments are reported at fair value.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles,
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual amounts could differ
from those estimates.

Subsequent Events

The City has evaluated subsequent events and transactions for potential recognition and disclosure
through May 10, 2022, the date the financial statements were available to be issued. 

NOTE B - BUDGETARY COMPLIANCE

P.A. 621 of 1978, as amended, provides that a local unit shall not incur expenditures in excess of the
amounts appropriated.  During the year ended December 31, 2021, the following functions incurred total
expenditures in excess of amounts appropriated for expenditures:

Fund Final Budget
Amount of

Expenditures
Budget

Variance

General Fund
Public safety $ 3,442,600 $ 3,538,265 $ 95,665
Public works 665,900 666,568 668
Recreation and cultural 2,192,000 2,338,055 146,055
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NOTE C - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS

The funds of the City are deposited and invested as permitted under Act 20 P.A. 1943, as amended by
Act 196 P.A. 1997.  Pension trust funds are invested as permitted under Act 314 P.A. 1965, as amended.

At December 31, 2021, the City's cash and investments include the following:

Primary Government Component Unit Fiduciary Funds
Deposits Investments Deposits Investments Deposits Investments

Carrying amounts
Cash and

equivalents $16,128,654 $ 5,741,898 $ 3,067,301 $ - $ 807,076 $ -
Restricted cash

and cash
equivalents 1,910,207 - - - - -

Restricted
investments - 1,654,383 - - - -

Investments 500,000 6,896,934 - 195,526 - 303,251

$18,538,861 $14,293,215 $ 3,067,301 $ 195,526 $ 807,076 $ 303,251

Deposits

Michigan law permits the City to deposit in the accounts of Federally insured banks, credit unions and
savings and loans associations located in Michigan.

Custodial Credit Risk

In the event of bank failure, the City's uninsured deposits may not be returned to it.  As of
December 31, 2021, $22,329,024 of the City's deposits (including certificates of deposit) were exposed to
custodial credit risk because they were uninsured and uncollateralized.  

Investments

Michigan law permits the City to invest in the following vehicles (except pension trust funds, which have
much greater flexibility):

1. Bonds and other obligations of the United States Government.
2. Certificates of deposit, savings, deposit and money market accounts.
3. Certain commercial paper.
4. United States Government repurchase agreements.
5. Banker's acceptance of United States banks.
6. Certain obligations of the State of Michigan or its political subdivisions.
7. Certain mutual funds.
8. Certain investment pools.

Investments are recorded at fair market value and money market funds are recorded at amortized cost.
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Listed below are the City's investments subject to credit risk at December 31, 2021.  The credit ratings
are established by Standard and Poor's.

Investment Type Fair Market Value Credit Ratings

Certificates of deposit $ 3,232,989
Municipal bonds 196,578 A
Municipal bonds 493,501 A+
Municipal bonds 1,690,019 AA
Municipal bonds 256,783 AA-
Municipal bonds 816,746 AA1
Treasury bonds 327,029 N/A
US government bonds 1,396,908 AA+
US government bonds - MPPA Investment Pools 336,290 N/A
Money market mutual funds 5,741,898
Stock mutual funds 129,843
Bond mutual funds 173,408

Total portfolio $ 14,791,992

Credit Risk and Custodial Credit Risk - Investments

The City will minimize credit risk, which is the risk of loss due to the failure of the security issuer or
backer, by:  limiting investments to the type of securities allowed by law and pre-qualifying the financial
institution, broker/dealers, intermediaries and advisors with which the City will do business.

The City's policy does not further limit its investment choices.  The certificates of deposit are insured by
the FDIC for up to $250,000 at each bank.  The City's investment in money market mutual funds is
uncategorized as to credit risk.  There is no regulatory oversight of the MPPA Investment Pool and no
overall credit quality rating of the pool.

As of December 31, 2021, $8,550,094 of the City's investments were uninsured and uncollateralized,
$5,741,898 were collateralized by securities held by the pledging financial institutions and $500,000 was
insured by the Securities Investor Protection Corporation.

Concentration of Credit Risk

The City places no limit on the amount it may invest in any one issuer.  As of December 31, 2021, the
City held no investments not guaranteed by the U.S. Government and not invested in diversified mutual
funds or external investment pools that represented more than 5% of the City's investments.

Interest Rate Risk

The City does not have a formal investment policy that limits investment maturities as a means of
managing its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates.
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The City recognized an unrealized loss on investments of $95,637 for the year ended December 31, 2021.

Maturity dates for investments held as of December 31, 2021 are as follows:

Investment Type 1 - 5 years 6 - 10 years > 10 years Total

Certificates of deposit $ 953,949 $ 2,031,423 $ 247,617 $ 3,232,989
Municipal bonds 685,338 493,447 2,274,842 3,453,627
Treasury bonds 311,423 15,606 - 327,029
US government bonds 745,617 494,501 493,080 1,733,198

$ 2,696,327 $ 3,034,977 $ 3,015,539 8,746,843
Mutual funds 6,045,149

Total $ 14,791,992

NOTE D - FAIR VALUE OF INVESTMENTS

The City categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally
accepted accounting principles.  The City has the following recurring fair value measurements as of
December 31, 2021: 

Investments by Fair Value Level

Quoted Prices
in Active

Markets for
Identical Assets

(Level 1)

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs 

(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs (Level 3) Total

Debt securities
Municipal bonds $ - $ 3,453,627 $ - $ 3,453,627

    Treasury bonds - 327,029 - 327,029

U.S. government bonds - 1,733,198 - 1,733,198

Mutual funds - 6,045,149 - 6,045,149

Total investments by fair market value $ - $ 11,559,003 $ - $ 11,559,003

The City's investments in certificates of deposit and cash equivalents are not required to be classified by
fair value.  
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Following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for assets measured at fair value on a
recurring basis.

There have been no changes in the methodologies used at December 31, 2021.

U.S. government bonds, treasury bonds and municipal bonds:  Valued at fair value using a matrix
pricing technique.  Matrix pricing is used to value securities based on the securities' relationship to
benchmark quoted prices.  

Money Market funds:  Valued at amortized cost which approximates fair value.

The methods described above may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net
realizable value or reflective of future fair values.  Furthermore, while the City believes its valuation
methods are appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of different methodologies
or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result in a different fair
value measurement at the reporting date.

NOTE E - PROPERTY TAXES

The City is permitted by charter to levy taxes, subject to State Headlee and Truth in Taxation provisions,
up to $10 per $1,000 of taxable valuation for general governmental services and in unlimited amounts for
the payment of principal and interest on general obligation long-term debt.  The City is also permitted by
charter to levy taxes up to $5 per $1,000 of taxable valuation for right-of-way related items.  The City is
permitted by State law to levy up to $1 per $1,000 of taxable valuation for the public library and $2 per
$1,000 of taxable valuation for refuse collection.  If approved by a majority of the voters, the City may
increase the tax levied by an additional $1 per $1,000 of taxable valuation for the public library.  The 2021
State taxable valuation of the City of Petoskey totaled $547,121,744.

The tax rates for the year ended December 31, 2021 were as follows:

Purpose Rate/Taxable Valuation

General governmental services 7.3639  per $1,000
Right-of-way 3.7920  per $1,000
Library 0.8253  per $1,000
Library (additional, approved by voters) 0.9157  per $1,000
Refuse collection 0.4890  per $1,000
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NOTE F - TAX ABATEMENTS

The City had the following tax abatements for the year ended December 31, 2021:

Type Tax Abated By Property Owner
Gross Amount

Abated
Payment in Lieu of Taxes

Public Act 346 of 1966, as
amended City of Petoskey

Petoskey Riverview Ltd
Dividend Housing $ 26,894

City of Petoskey Keystone Management Group (8,779)

$ 18,115

NOTE G - INTERFUND RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES

The amounts of interfund receivables and payables within the primary government are as follows for the
year ended December 31, 2021:

Interfund
Receivables

Interfund
Payables

General Fund $ 201,132 $ -
Right-of-Way Fund 82,487 -
Other Nonmajor Governmental Funds 2,705 -
Fiduciary Funds - Custodial Funds - 286,324

Total $ 286,324 $ 286,324

The amounts of interfund receivables and payables between the primary government and the component
units are as follows for the year ended December 31, 2021:

Interfund
Receivables

Interfund
Payables

Library Component Unit $ 37,926 $ -
Fiduciary Funds - Custodial Funds - 37,926

Total $ 37,926 $ 37,926

The interfund balances are mainly for property taxes, material and inventory usage, building rent and
equipment.
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NOTE H - INTERFUND TRANSFERS

Operating transfers within the primary government are as follows for the year ended December 31, 2021:

Transfers In Transfers Out

General Fund $ 2,439,400 $ 216,500
Right-of-Way Fund - 1,700,000
Electric Fund 100,000 1,020,300
Water and Sewer Fund - 1,079,300
Other Nonmajor Governmental Funds 2,066,500 458,000
Internal Service Fund - 131,800

Total $ 4,605,900 $ 4,605,900

Operating transfers between the primary government and the component units are as follows for the year
ended December 31, 2021:

Transfers In Transfers Out

TIFA Component Unit $ - $ 236,000
Downtown Management Parking Component Unit - 22,800
General Fund 22,800 -
Other Nonmajor Governmental Funds 236,000 -

Total $ 258,800 $ 258,800

The operating transfers are mainly for right-of-way, debt service and general City operations.

Enterprise fund payments in lieu of taxes, classified as transfers to the General Fund above, were as
follows for the year ended December 31, 2021:

Electric Fund $ 199,400
Water and Sewer Fund 376,500

$ 575,900
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NOTE I - CAPITAL ASSETS

Investment in capital assets changed as follows during the year ended December 31, 2021:

Governmental Activities

Beginning
Capital

Acquisitions

Sales and
Other

Dispositions Ending
Capital assets not being depreciated

Land $ 4,070,713 $ - $ - $ 4,070,713

Capital assets being depreciated
Land improvements 3,923,978 362,736 (9,663) 4,277,051
Buildings 6,578,163 64,438 - 6,642,601
Equipment 8,683,951 474,380 (416,058) 8,742,273
Infrastructure 29,785,700 780,440 (119,374) 30,446,766

Subtotal 48,971,792 1,681,994 (545,095) 50,108,691

Less accumulated depreciation
Land improvements (1,455,151) (102,936) 9,663 (1,548,424)
Buildings (3,839,075) (223,400) - (4,062,475)
Equipment (4,571,290) (562,385) 398,591 (4,735,084)
Infrastructure (18,933,119) (918,773) 119,374 (19,732,518)

Subtotal (28,798,635) (1,807,494) 527,628 (30,078,501)

Net capital assets being depreciated 20,173,157 (125,500) (17,467) 20,030,190

Governmental activities net
capital assets $ 24,243,870 $ (125,500) $ (17,467) $ 24,100,903
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Business-Type Activities

Beginning
Capital

Acquisitions

Sales and
Other

Dispositions Ending
Capital assets not being depreciated

Land $ 1,811,311 $ - $ (11,804) $ 1,799,507

Capital assets being depreciated
Land improvements 260,795 - - 260,795
Buildings 27,973,358 89,999 (642) 28,062,715
Utility system improvements 54,578,066 1,300,346 - 55,878,412
Equipment 512,777 - (178,499) 334,278

Subtotal 83,324,996 1,390,345 (179,141) 84,536,200

Less accumulated depreciation
Land improvements (114,751) (10,432) - (125,183)
Buildings (14,042,539) (743,181) 642 (14,785,078)
Utility system improvements (30,291,434) (1,895,592) 74,324 (32,112,702)
Equipment (417,295) - 115,979 (301,316)

Subtotal (44,866,019) (2,649,205) 190,945 (47,324,279)

Net capital assets being depreciated 38,458,977 (1,258,860) 11,804 37,211,921

Business-type activities net
capital assets $ 40,270,288 $ (1,258,860) $ - $ 39,011,428

Depreciation expense was charged to programs of the primary government as follows for the year ended
December 31, 2021:

Governmental activities

General government $ 3,320
Public safety 198,781
Public works 1,209,667
Recreation and cultural 75,348
Unallocated 320,378

Total governmental activities $ 1,807,494

Business-type activities

Electric $ 1,225,740
Water and sewer 1,423,465

Total business-type activities $ 2,649,205
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Component Units

Beginning
Capital

Acquisitions

Sales and
Other

Dispositions Ending
Capital assets being depreciated

Land improvements $ 3,491,092 $ - $ - $ 3,491,092
Buildings 6,416,166 - - 6,416,166
Equipment 1,834,604 57,882 (118,360) 1,774,126

Subtotal 11,741,862 57,882 (118,360) 11,681,384

Less accumulated depreciation
Land improvements (1,464,950) (168,411) - (1,633,361)
Buildings (3,076,474) (182,371) - (3,258,845)
Equipment (1,236,397) (43,589) 118,360 (1,161,626)

Subtotal (5,777,821) (394,371) 118,360 (6,053,832)

Component units' net
capital assets $ 5,964,041 $ (336,489) $ - $ 5,627,552

NOTE J - LONG-TERM DEBT

The following is a summary of the City's long-term debt transactions for the year ended
December 31, 2021:

Beginning New Ending Current
Balance Debt Payments Balance Portion

PRIMARY GOVERNMENT
Governmental activities

General obligation debt $ 443,734 $ - $ 103,249 $ 340,485 $ 114,315
Compensated absences 87,223 - 20,822 66,401 -

Total governmental activities $ 530,957 $ - $ 124,071 $ 406,886 $ 114,315

Business-type activities

Revenue obligation debt $ 9,665,000 $ 4,125,000 $ 5,230,000 $ 8,560,000 $ 835,000

COMPONENT UNITS

General obligation debt $ 3,751,267 $ 1,805,000 $ 2,131,752 $ 3,424,515 $ 425,685
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Bonds payable at December 31, 2021 is composed of the following individual items:

General Obligation (Governmental Activities)

$1,000,000, 2010 City of Petoskey Building Authority Improvement bonds;
$750,000 refunded with $730,323, 2017 City of Petoskey Building Authority
Improvement bonds; remaining annual installments of $113,085 to $114,315
through April 2024; interest rate of 3.00% to 4.00%.  Funds for repayment
have been provided by the Marina Bond Debt Fund. $ 340,485

Unamortized premium 17,783

Total governmental activities general obligation bonds $ 358,268

Deferred Loss on Debt Refunding

Unaccreted loss on refunding - $730,323, 2017 Building Authority
Improvement Bonds. $ 1,292

Revenue Obligation (Business-type Activities)

$6,330,000, 2011 Water and Sewer refunding bonds and $2,755,000, 2011
Water and Sewer bonds; $4,430,000 refunded with $4,125,000, 2021 Water
and Sewer refunding bonds, remaining annual installments of $125,000 to
$720,000 through February 2031; interest rate of 3.00%. $ 4,125,000

Unamortized premium 350,316

$5,000,000, 2017 Water and Sewer bonds; remaining annual installments of
$205,000 to $365,000 through December 2037; interest rate of 3.00% to
3.25%. 4,435,000

Unamortized premium 53,359

Total business-type activities revenue obligation debt $ 8,963,675

Deferred Gain on Debt Refunding

Unaccreted gain on refunding - $4,125,000, 2021 Water and Sewer refunding
bonds $ 140,575
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General Obligation (Component Unit)

$2,900,000, 2010 Building Authority TIFA Bear River Valley Improvement
bonds; $2,300,000 refunded with $2,239,677, 2017 Building Authority TIFA
Bear River Valley Improvement bonds; remaining annual installments of
$185,000 to $230,000 through April 2029; interest rate of 3.00% to 4.00%. $ 1,619,515

Unamortized premium 89,490

$4,300,000, 2003 Building Authority Library Improvement bonds;
$3,425,000 refunded with $3,520,000, 2012 Building Authority Library
Improvement bonds; $1,755,000 refunded with $1,805,000, 2021 Building
Authority Library Improvement refunding bonds, remaining annual
installments of $220,000 to $285,000 through October 2028; interest rate of
1.139%. 1,805,000

Total component unit general obligation bonds $ 3,514,005

Deferred Loss on Debt Refunding

Unaccreted loss on refunding - $1,805,000, 2021 Building Authority Library
Improvement refunding bonds $ 6,373

Unaccreted loss on refunding - $2,239,677, 2017 Building Authority TIFA
Bear River Valley Improvement Bonds $ 6,502

The annual requirements to amortize all general and revenue obligation bonds outstanding, as of
December 31, 2021, are as follows:

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Component Unit
Years Ending Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest

2022 $ 114,315 $ 9,631 $ 835,000 $ 246,051 $ 425,685 $ 80,291
2023 113,085 6,220 930,000 219,576 466,915 69,558
2024 113,085 2,262 935,000 191,601 461,915 59,472
2025 - - 935,000 163,551 440,000 48,774
2026 - - 935,000 135,501 430,000 38,468
2027-2031 - - 1,995,000 462,255 1,200,000 49,510
2032-2036 - - 1,630,000 188,772 - -
2037 - - 365,000 5,931 - -

$ 340,485 $ 18,113 $ 8,560,000 $ 1,613,238 $ 3,424,515 $ 346,073
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NOTE K - LAND CONTRACT PAYABLE

The City entered into a land contract during the year ended December 31, 2020 within the Electric
System Fund.  The value of land acquired through the contract totaled $724,580.  The City paid $242,913
at initiation of the contract, leaving a total contract payable balance of $481,667 at December 31, 2020.
The terms of the contract called for the balance of the contract to be paid in equal annual installments
during fiscal years ended December 31, 2021 and 2022.  Thus, the remaining contract payable balance at
December 31, 2021 totals $240,833.  No interest is charged.

NOTE L - RESTRICTED FUND BALANCES/RESTRICTED NET POSITION

Fund balances and net position are classified as follows for the year ended December 31, 2021:

Governmental Funds
General

Fund
Right-of-
Way Fund

Other
Non-Major

Funds
Governmental

Activities

Restricted for:
Refuse collection $ 356,666 $ - $ - $ 356,666
Marina 964,340 - - 964,340
Streets and improvements - 970,361 2,732,277 3,702,638
Downtown programs and

services - - 215,276 215,276

$ 1,321,006 $ 970,361 $ 2,947,553 $ 5,238,920

Enterprise Funds
Electric System

Fund
Water and Sewer

System Fund
Business-Type

Activities

Restricted for:
Sewage service covenants $ - $ 770,923 $ 770,923
Revenue bond indentures - 970,417 970,417
MPPA energy expenses 664,370 - 664,370

$ 664,370 $ 1,741,340 $ 2,405,710

Fiduciary Funds

Employees
Retirement
Trust Fund

Restricted for:

Employee pension benefits $ 303,251
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Component Units

Restricted for Tax Increment Finance Authority ("TIFA") - The Tax Increment Finance Authority has
$991,980 restricted for use within the TIFA district.

The Library has $273,000 restricted for debt service and $894,203 restricted for Library operations. 

NOTE M - EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT AND BENEFIT SYSTEM

Municipal Employees Retirement Systems

Defined Benefit Plan

General Information about the Pension Plan

The City's defined benefit pension plan provides certain retirement, disability, and death benefits to plan
members and beneficiaries.  The City's plan covers the City and Library employees.  The City participates
in the Municipal Employees Retirement System ("MERS") of Michigan.  MERS an agent multiple-
employer, statewide public employees pension plan established by the Michigan Legislature under Public
Act 135 of 1945 and administered by a nine member Retirement Board.  MERS issues a publicly
available financial report that includes financial statements and required supplementary information.
This report may be obtained accessing the MERS website at www.mersofmich.com.

Benefits Provided

Benefits provided include plans with multipliers ranging from 2.0% to 2.5%.  

Vesting periods range from 6 to 10 years.

Normal retirement age is 60 with early retirement at 55 with 15 years of service, or 50 with 25 years of
service.

Final average compensation is calculated based on 3 years.  Members contributions range from 0.0% to
4.5%.  
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Employees Covered by Benefit Terms

At the December 31, 2020 valuation date, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms:

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 81
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 11
Active employees 61

Total covered employees 153

Contributions

The employer is required to contribute amounts at least equal to the actuarially determined rate, as
established by the MERS Retirement Board.  The actuarially determined rate is the estimated amount
necessary to finance the cost of benefits earned by employees during the year, with an additional amount
to finance any unfunded accrued liability.  The employer may establish contribution rates to be paid by its
covered employees.

Employer contributions range from 10.82% to 26.30% based on annual payroll for open divisions.

Net Pension Liability

The employer's Net Pension Liability was measured as of December 31, 2021, and the total pension
liability used to calculate the Net Pension Liability was determined by an annual actuarial valuation as of
that date.

Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liability in the December 31, 2020 annual actuarial valuation was determined using the
following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Inflation:  2.5%

Salary Increases:  3.00% in the long-term, plus a percentage based on an age-related scale to reflect
merit, longevity and promotional pay increases.

Investment rate of return:  7.35%, net of investment expense, including inflation

Although no specific price inflation assumptions are needed for the valuation, the 2.75% long-term wage
inflation assumption would be consistent with a price inflation of 2.50%.
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Mortality rates used were based on the RP-2014 Group Annuity Mortality Table of a 50% Male and 50%
Female blend.

The actuarial assumptions used in valuation were based on the results of the most recent actuarial
experience study of 2008-2013.  

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a model method
in which the best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of
investment and administrative expenses and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.  These
ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future
real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation.  The target
allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized
in the following table:

Asset Class
Target

Allocation

Long-Term
Expected

Real Rate of
Return

Global equity %60.0 %3.15
Global fixed income %20.0 %0.25
Private Investments %20.0 %1.45

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability is 7.60% for 2020.  The projection of cash
flows used to determine the discount rate assumes that employer and employee contributions will be
made at the rates agreed upon for employees and the actuarially determined rates for employers.  Based
on these assumptions, the pension plan's fiduciary net position was projected to be available to pay all
projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive employees.  Therefore, the long-term
expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit
payments to determine the total pension liability.  
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Changes in Net Pension Liability - City

Total
Pension
Liability 

(a)

Plan
Fiduciary

Net Position
(b)

Net Pension
Liability 

(a)-(b)

Balances at December 31, 2020 $30,541,267 $27,009,637 $ 3,531,630

Changes for the Year
Service cost 453,740 - 453,740
Interest on Total Pension Liability 2,266,762 - 2,266,762
Change in benefits - - -
Difference between expected and actual experience (310,575) - (310,575)
Changes in assumptions 707,643 - 707,643
Employer contributions - 1,839,298 (1,839,298)
Employee contributions - 127,371 (127,371)
Net investment income - 3,837,794 (3,837,794)
Benefit payments, including employee refunds (1,822,760) (1,822,760) -
Administrative expense - (44,121) 44,121
Other changes 46,746 (27,363) 74,109

Net changes 1,341,556 3,910,219 (2,568,663)

Balances as of December 31, 2021 $31,882,823 $30,919,856 $ 962,967

Changes in Net Pension Liability - Library

Total
Pension
Liability

(a)

Plan
Fiduciary

Net Position
(b)

Net Pension
Liability
(a)-(b)

Balances at December 31, 2020 $ 399,129 $ 352,976 $ 46,153

Changes for the Year
Service cost 6,396 - 6,396
Interest on Total Pension Liability 31,952 - 31,952
Change in benefits - - -
Difference between expected and actual experience (4,378) - (4,378)
Changes in assumptions 9,975 - 9,975
Employer contributions - 25,927 (25,927)
Employee contributions - 1,795 (1,795)
Net investment income - 54,097 (54,097)
Benefit payments, including employee refunds (25,694) (25,694) -
Administrative expense - (622) 622
Other changes 32,036 27,363 4,673

Net changes 50,287 82,866 (32,579)

Balances as of December 31, 2021 $ 449,416 $ 435,842 $ 13,574
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Sensitivity of Net Position Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

The following presents the Net Pension Liability, calculated using the discount rate of 7.60%, as well as
what the employer's Net Pension Liability would be using a discount rate that is 1% point lower (6.60%)
or 1% higher (8.60%) than the current rate.

1%
Decrease

6.60%

Current
Discount

Rate
7.60%

1%
Increase
8.60%

City net pension liability $ 4,548,273 $ 962,967 $ (2,068,741)
Library net pension liability 64,112 13,574 (29,161)

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to
Pensions

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the City recognized pension expense of $497,236.  The City
reported deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources:

Deferred
Outflows of
Resources

Deferred
Inflows of
Resources

Differences in experience $ - $ 155,014
Differences in assumptions 979,754 -
Excess (deficit) investment returns - 2,135,878
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date - -

Total $ 979,754 $ 2,290,892

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Library recognized pension expense of $7,009.  The Library
reported deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources:

Deferred
Outflows of
Resources

Deferred
Inflows of
Resources

Differences in experience $ - $ 2,202
Differences in assumptions 11,794 -
Excess (deficit) investment returns - 26,694
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date - -

Total $ 11,794 $ 28,896
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Amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in
pension expense as follows:

Years Ending City Library

2022 $ 1,690 $ 24
2023 (446,254) (6,290)
2024 (508,546) (7,168)
2025 (358,028) (3,668)

Total $ (1,311,138) $ (17,102)

Defined Contribution Plans

Retirement
The City’s defined contribution plan provides certain retirement, death, and disability benefits to
plan members and beneficiaries.  The City’s plan covers nonunion employees and Department of
Public Works unionized employees.  The City participates in the Michigan Municipal Employees’
Retirement System (“MERS”), an agent multiple-employer, State-wide public employees’ pension
plan established by the Michigan Legislature under Public Act 135 of 1945 and administered by a
nine-member Retirement Board.  MERS issues a publicly available financial report that include
financial statements and required supplementary information.  This report may be obtained
accessing the MERS website at www.mersofmich.com.

As of December 31, 2021, the City contributes up to 5% and matches up to an additional 5% for a
total contribution rate of 10% for nonunion employees.  The nonunion employees have the option to
contribute 5% of earnings.  

As of December 31, 2021, the City contributes up to 3% and matches up to an additional 2% for a
total contribution rate of 5% for Department of Public Works unionized employees.  The
Department of Public Works unionized employees have the option to contribute 5% of earnings. 

The plan currently covers 16 employees in total. During fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, the
employees contributed $14,804 and the City contributed $43,012 to the plan.

Health Care Savings Program
The City also participates in the Municipal Employee’s Retirement System of Michigan (MERS)
healthcare savings program for all unionized Public Safety Officers as implemented on 
August 1, 2021.  In the healthcare savings program, benefits depend solely on the amounts
contributed to the plan plus investment earnings.  Employees participate from the date of
employment.  As established by City Council resolution, employees contribute 3% of their gross
earnings to the program.  The current year contributions were calculated based on covered payroll of
$581,467, resulting in employee contributions totaling $17,444.
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NOTE N - DEFINED CONTRIBUTION RETIREMENT PLAN

The City provides pension benefits for management employees as designated by City Council through a
defined contribution plan.  In a defined contribution plan, benefits depend solely on amounts contributed
to the plan plus investment earnings.  Designated employees are eligible to participate from the date of
employment.  The City's contributions for each employee (and interest allocated to each employee's
account) are fully vested immediately.

The City's contributions were calculated using the eligible base salary amount of $96,707, as established
by City Council and governed by Federal regulations.  The City made the required 14.00% contribution
for the year, which totaled $13,539.

At December 31, 2021, the City had $303,251 within the Employees Retirement Trust Fund.

NOTE O - DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN

The City offers its employees a deferred compensation plan created in accordance with Internal Revenue
Code 457.  The plan, available to all City employees, permits them to defer a portion of their salary until
future years.  The deferred compensation is not available to employees until termination, retirement,
death or unforeseeable emergency.

In complying with the amended Section 457 requirements, these assets are for the exclusive benefit of
participants and not subject to the claims of the City's general creditors.  As such, they are not included in
a custodial fund of the City.

NOTE P - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Landfill Closure and Post-Closure Care Costs

An agreement with the State of Michigan requires that the City of Petoskey perform monitoring functions
at a former landfill site for 30 years after closure.  A liability is being recognized based on the estimated
future post-closure costs that will be incurred over the remaining term of the agreement, which runs
through August 2022.  The estimated total current cost of the landfill post-closure care of $85,000 is
based on the amount that would be paid if the services to monitor the landfill were acquired as of
December 31, 2021.  However, the actual cost of post-closure care may be higher due to inflation,
changes in technology or changes in landfill laws and regulations.

Entitlement Commitments

Between 1979 and 2001, the Michigan Public Power Agency ("MPPA"), of which the City is a member,
acquired ownership interests in the Detroit Edison Belle River Unit and other related assets, and the CT
Project No. 1.  The City's entitlement share of the Belle River Unit and CT Project No. 1 generating
capacities are 4,137 (KW) and 4,392 (KW), respectively.  
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The entitlements specify minimum annual payments on a "take-or-pay" basis for the generation and
transmission capabilities of the units as follows:

Years Ending CT Project
December 31, No. 1

2022 $ 229,200
2023 229,296
2024 229,415
2025 229,534
2026 229,630

Total $ 1,147,075

There is a possibility of refunds or subsidy payments to the City due to past fuel overcharges.  However,
since the amounts are unknown at this time, there are no provisions made in the financial statements.

The City entered into an agreement with MPPA in August 2011, to purchase up to .8 mega-watt hours of
power per hour at prices ranging from $41 to $68 per mega-watt hour from 2012 to 2023.

NOTE Q - RISKS AND CONTINGENCIES

Insurance

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, theft of, damage to and destruction of assets;
errors and omissions; injuries to employees and natural disasters.  The City has purchased commercial
insurance for general liability and property, and participates in the Michigan Municipal League risk pool
for claims relating to employee injuries/workers compensation.  Settled claims relating to the commercial
insurance have not exceeded the amount of insurance coverage in any of the past three fiscal years.  The
City purchases commercial health care insurance from Blue Cross/Blue Shield of Michigan for all
eligible and participating employees and retirees, and has no risk in excess of policy coverage. 

The shared-risk pool in which the City participates operates a common risk-sharing management program
for various municipalities throughout the State.  Member premiums are used to purchase commercial
insurance coverage and to pay member claims in excess of deductible amounts.

COVID-19

On March 10, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the coronavirus outbreak (COVID-19) a
pandemic.  The City believes it understands the risk associated with COVID-19.  The City has
implemented risk mitigation tactics related to their operations within and outside of the City in response
to the risks caused by COVID-19.  The extent to which the pandemic impacts operations will depend on
future developments, which are highly uncertain at this time, and cannot be predicted.  

-55-



REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

-56-



City of Petoskey

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE FOR THE GENERAL FUND

Year ended December 31, 2021

Variances - Positive (Negative)
Budgeted Amounts Actual Original to Final to Actual

Original Final (GAAP Basis) Final Total
REVENUES

Taxes $ 3,680,900 $ 3,680,900 $ 3,763,794 $ - $ 82,894
Licenses and permits 21,500 21,500 21,165 - (335)
Federal grants 19,000 79,000 76,412 60,000 (2,588)
State grants 637,400 637,400 751,773 - 114,373
Contributions from local units 29,500 129,500 189,228 100,000 59,728
Charges for services 1,473,200 1,723,200 1,756,682 250,000 33,482
Fines and forfeitures 13,100 13,100 12,611 - (489)
Interest and investment earnings 135,000 135,000 79,927 - (55,073)
Other 110,200 110,200 178,642 - 68,442

Total revenues 6,119,800 6,529,800 6,830,234 410,000 300,434

EXPENDITURES
Legislative, general government, and

health and welfare 2,099,600 2,099,600 2,045,932 - 53,668
Public safety 3,392,600 3,442,600 3,538,265 (50,000) (95,665)
Public works 665,900 665,900 666,568 - (668)
Recreation and cultural 2,192,000 2,192,000 2,338,055 - (146,055)
Capital outlay 341,300 668,900 552,141 (327,600) 116,759

Total expenditures 8,691,400 9,069,000 9,140,961 (377,600) (71,961)

REVENUES UNDER
EXPENDITURES (2,571,600) (2,539,200) (2,310,727) 32,400 228,473

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Operating transfers in 2,439,400 2,439,400 2,439,400 - -
Operating transfers out (216,500) (216,500) (216,500) - -
Transfers from component units 22,800 22,800 22,800 - -

Total other financing sources 2,245,700 2,245,700 2,245,700 - -

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES (325,900) (293,500) (65,027) 32,400 228,473

Fund balance, beginning of year 5,577,364 5,577,364 5,577,364 - -

Fund balance, end of year $ 5,251,464 $ 5,283,864 $ 5,512,337 $ 32,400 $ 228,473
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City of Petoskey

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE FOR THE
RIGHT-OF-WAY FUND

Year ended December 31, 2021

Variances - Positive (Negative)
Budgeted Amounts Actual Original to Final to Actual

Original Final (GAAP Basis) Final Total
REVENUES

Property taxes $ 1,779,200 $ 1,779,200 $ 1,817,240 $ - $ 38,040
  Interest 6,900 6,900 4,389 - (2,511)

     Total revenue 1,786,100 1,786,100 1,821,629 - 35,529

EXPENDITURES
Other

Contracted services 2,000 2,000 1,646 - 354

REVENUES OVER
EXPENDITURES 1,784,100 1,784,100 1,819,983 - 35,883

OTHER FINANCING USES
Operating transfers out (1,700,000) (1,700,000) (1,700,000) - -

NET CHANGE IN FUND
BALANCE 84,100 84,100 119,983 - 35,883

Fund balance, beginning of
year 850,378 850,378 850,378 - -

Fund balance, end of year $ 934,478 $ 934,478 $ 970,361 $ - $ 35,883

-58-



City of Petoskey

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE CITY MERS NET PENSION LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS

Years ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
Total Pension Liability

Service cost $ 453,740 $ 447,361 $ 465,716 $ 467,813 $ 502,133 $ 507,633 $ 482,076
Interest 2,266,762 2,107,613 2,168,625 2,087,596 2,174,753 2,017,084 1,933,518
Changes of benefit terms - (4,337) - - (1,591,126) (7,593) -
Difference between expected and actual experience (310,575) 307,927 (304,611) 177,290 (691,004) 384,444 -
Changes of assumption 707,643 894,972 - - - 1,314,664 -
Benefit payments including employee refunds (1,822,760) (1,744,858) (1,707,560) (1,593,200) (1,498,913) (1,365,973) (1,267,600)
Other 46,746 88,837 78,091 65,182 (17,001) (126,712) (40,561)

Net Change in Total Pension Liability 1,341,556 2,097,515 700,261 1,204,681 (1,121,158) 2,723,547 1,107,433

Total Pension Liability Beginning 30,541,267 28,443,752 27,743,851 26,539,170 27,660,328 24,936,781 23,829,348

Total Pension Liability Ending $31,882,823 $30,541,267 $ 28,444,112 $27,743,851 $26,539,170 $27,660,328 $24,936,781

Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Contributions - employer 1,839,298 1,732,500 1,653,453 $ 1,621,597 $ 1,686,087 $ 700,936 $ 691,061
Contributions - employee 127,371 127,246 120,480 118,342 122,283 120,075 121,724
Net investment income 3,837,794 3,073,588 2,877,141 (879,908) 2,566,652 1,971,865 (271,928)
Benefit payments including employee refunds (1,822,760) (1,744,858) (1,707,560) (1,593,200) (1,498,913) (1,365,973) (1,267,600)
Administrative expense (44,121) (48,012) (49,509) (42,942) (40,507) (38,931) (39,863)
Other changes (27,363) (53,198) (14,879) 96,974 15,329 (40,832) -

Net Change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position 3,910,219 3,087,266 2,879,126 (679,137) 2,850,931 1,347,140 (766,606)

Plan Fiduciary Net Position Beginning 27,009,637 23,922,371 21,043,245 21,722,382 18,871,451 17,524,311 18,290,917

Plan Fiduciary Net Position Ending $30,919,856 $27,009,637 $ 23,922,371 $21,043,245 $21,722,382 $18,871,451 $17,524,311

Employer Net Pension Liability $ 962,967 $ 3,531,630 $ 4,521,741 $ 6,700,606 $ 4,816,788 $ 8,788,877 $ 7,412,470

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of Total Pension Liability %97 %88 %84 %76 %82 %68 %70

Covered Employee Payroll $ 3,958,333 $ 3,942,872 $ 3,938,399 $ 3,920,256 $ 3,994,976 $ 3,978,932 $ 4,078,153

Employer's Net Pension Liability as a Percentage of Covered
Employee Payroll %24 %90 %115 %171 %121 %221 %182
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City of Petoskey

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE LIBRARY MERS NET PENSION LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS

Years ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
Total Pension Liability

Service cost $ 6,396 $ 5,846 $ 5,037 $ 4,725 $ 7,336 $ 7,835 $ 6,300
Interest 31,952 27,544 23,451 21,087 31,774 31,133 25,268
Changes of benefit terms - (57) - - (23,247) (117) -
Difference between expected and actual experience (4,378) 4,024 (3,295) 1,791 (10,096) 5,934 -
Changes of assumption 9,975 11,696 - - - 20,291 -
Benefit payments including employee refunds (25,694) (22,803) (18,469) (16,093) (21,900) (21,083) (16,566)
Other 32,036 65,240 20,674 (119,016) (23,046) 57,045 (530)

Net Change in Total Pension Liability 50,287 91,490 27,398 (107,506) (39,179) 101,038 14,472

Total Pension Liability Beginning 399,129 307,639 280,241 387,747 426,926 325,888 311,416

Total Pension Liability Ending $ 449,416 $ 399,129 $ 307,639 $ 280,241 $ 387,747 $ 426,926 $ 325,888

Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Contributions - employer 25,927 22,641 17,883 $ 16,380 $ 24,634 $ 10,819 $ 9,031
Contributions - employee 1,795 1,663 1,303 1,195 1,787 1,853 1,591
Net investment income 54,097 40,167 31,118 (8,888) 37,500 30,435 (3,554)
Benefit payments including employee refunds (25,694) (22,803) (18,469) (16,093) (21,900) (21,083) (16,566)
Administrative expense (622) (627) (535) (434) (592) (601) (520)
Other changes 27,363 53,198 14,879 (96,974) (15,330) 40,832 -

Net Change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position 82,866 94,239 46,179 (104,814) 26,099 62,255 (10,018)

Plan Fiduciary Net Position Beginning 352,976 258,737 212,558 317,372 291,273 229,018 239,036

Plan Fiduciary Net Position Ending $ 435,842 $ 352,976 $ 258,737 $ 212,558 $ 317,372 $ 291,273 $ 229,018

Employer Net Pension Liability $ 13,574 $ 46,153 $ 48,902 $ 67,683 $ 70,375 $ 135,653 $ 96,870

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of Total Pension Liability %97 %88 %84 %76 %82 %68 %70

Covered Employee Payroll $ 329,498 $ 310,529 $ 295,550 $ 318,874 $ 303,359 $ 280,175 $ 333,666

Employer's Net Pension Liability as a Percentage of Covered
Employee Payroll %4 %15 %17 %21 %23 %48 %29
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City of Petoskey

SCHEDULE OF MERS EMPLOYER'S CONTRIBUTIONS

Years ended December 31,

Actuarial
Determined

Contributions
Actual

Contribution

Contribution
Deficiency
(Excess) Covered Payroll

Actual
Contribution

as a % of
Covered
Payroll

City:
2012 $ 650,292 $ 637,286 $ 13,006 $ 4,032,000 %16
2013 697,426 683,477 13,949 4,408,000 %16
2014 651,998 638,958 13,040 4,235,000 %15
2015 691,061 691,061 - 4,075,153 %17
2016 700,936 700,936 - 3,978,932 %18
2017 686,087 1,686,087 (1,000,000) 3,994,976 %42
2018 631,597 1,631,597 (1,000,000) 3,920,256 %42
2019 653,453 1,653,453 (1,000,000) 3,938,399 %42
2020 732,500 1,732,500 (1,000,000) 3,942,872 %44
2021 839,298 1,839,298 (1,000,000) 3,958,333 %46

Library:
2015 9,031 9,031 - 333,666 %3
2016 10,819 10,819 - 280,175 %4
2017 24,634 24,634 - 303,359 %8
2018 6,380 6,380 - 318,874 %2
2019 17,883 17,883 - 295,550 %6
2020 22,641 22,641 - 310,529 %7
2021 27,363 27,363 - 329,498 %8

Notes to Schedule

Actuarial cost method Entry age
Amortization method Level percentage of payroll, closed
Remaining amortization period 23 years
Asset valuation method 5 year smoothed
Inflation 2.5%
Salary increases 3.00%
Investment rate of return 7.35%
Retirement age Varies depending on plan adoption
Mortality 50% female/50% male RP-2014 Annuity Mortality Table

Changes in actuarial methods and assumptions:

Salary increases were reduced from 3.75% to 3.00%.
Investment rate of return was reduced from 7.75% to 7.35%.
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City of Petoskey

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET - NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

December 31, 2021

Special Revenue Funds Debt Service Funds
Building

Building Authority
Total Authority Bear River Total Total

Major Local General Downtown Special Marina Valley Debt Non-Major
Street Street Street Management Revenue Bond Debt Bond Debt Service Funds

ASSETS
Current assets

Cash $1,212,848 $1,014,288 $1,423,102 $ 200,036 $3,850,274 $ 31,176 $ 123,482 $ 154,658 $ 4,004,932
Receivables

Special assessments - - - 22,686 22,686 - - - 22,686
Accounts receivable 916 794 1,120 - 2,830 228 120 348 3,178

Due from other funds - - - 2,705 2,705 - - - 2,705
Due from other governments 128,910 37,820 - - 166,730 - - - 166,730
Inventory, at cost - - 257,122 - 257,122 - - - 257,122

Total assets $1,342,674 $1,052,902 $1,681,344 $ 225,427 $4,302,347 $ 31,404 $ 123,602 $ 155,006 $ 4,457,353

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
LIABILITIES

Accounts payable $ 3,768 $ 176 $ 88,890 $ 10,151 $ 102,985 $ - $ - $ - $ 102,985
Accrued expenditures 4,920 3,824 4,875 - 13,619 - - - 13,619

Total liabilities 8,688 4,000 93,765 10,151 116,604 - - - 116,604

FUND BALANCES
Non-spendable

Inventory - - 257,122 - 257,122 - - - 257,122
Restricted 

Special revenue - - - 215,276 215,276 - - - 215,276
Streets and improvements 1,333,986 1,048,902 349,389 - 2,732,277 - - - 2,732,277

Committed - - 981,068 - 981,068 31,404 123,602 155,006 1,136,074

Total fund balances 1,333,986 1,048,902 1,587,579 215,276 4,185,743 31,404 123,602 155,006 4,340,749

Total liabilities and fund
balances $1,342,674 $1,052,902 $1,681,344 $ 225,427 $4,302,347 $ 31,404 $ 123,602 $ 155,006 $ 4,457,353
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City of Petoskey

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES
IN FUND BALANCE - NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

Year ended December 31, 2021

Special Revenue Funds Debt Service Funds
Building

Building Authority Total
Authority Bear River Other

Major Local General Downtown Marina Valley Non-Major
Street Street Street Management Total Bond Debt Bond Debt Total Funds

REVENUES
State grants $ 778,604 $ 267,342 $ - $ - $ 1,045,946 $ - $ - $ - $ 1,045,946
Special assessments - - - 110,698 110,698 - - - 110,698
Interest and investment earnings 6,447 5,895 10,167 6,085 28,594 1,779 866 2,645 31,239
Other - 351,163 - 8,335 359,498 - - - 359,498

Total revenues 785,051 624,400 10,167 125,118 1,544,736 1,779 866 2,645 1,547,381

EXPENDITURES
Current

Public works 412,608 226,636 604,907 85,776 1,329,927 - - - 1,329,927
Capital outlay - 644,460 208,821 790 854,071 - - - 854,071
Principal - - - - - 103,249 171,751 275,000 275,000
Interest - - - - - 13,019 63,406 76,425 76,425

Total expenditures 412,608 871,096 813,728 86,566 2,183,998 116,268 235,157 351,425 2,535,423

REVENUES UNDER
EXPENDITURES 372,443 (246,696) (803,561) 38,552 (639,262) (114,489) (234,291) (348,780) (988,042)

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 
Operating transfers in - 500,000 1,450,000 - 1,950,000 116,500 - 116,500 2,066,500
Operating transfers out - - (458,000) - (458,000) - - - (458,000)
Transfers from component units - - - - - - 236,000 236,000 236,000

Total other financing sources - 500,000 992,000 - 1,492,000 116,500 236,000 352,500 1,844,500

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE 372,443 253,304 188,439 38,552 852,738 2,011 1,709 3,720 856,458

Fund balance, beginning of year 961,543 795,598 1,399,140 176,724 3,333,005 29,393 121,893 151,286 3,484,291

Fund balance, end of year $ 1,333,986 $ 1,048,902 $ 1,587,579 $ 215,276 $4,185,743 $ 31,404 $ 123,602 $ 155,006 $ 4,340,749
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City of Petoskey

COMBINING COMPONENT UNIT BALANCE SHEET/STATEMENT
OF NET POSITION

December 31, 2021
Reconciliation of Fund Balance Sheets to

Debt Service Funds Statement of Net Position
2017

2017 Bear River Library Governmental Governmental Statement
Marina Valley Improvement Financing Bonds Accrued of Net 
Bonds Bonds Bonds Leases Payable Interest Position

ASSETS
Current assets

Cash $ 31,176 $ 123,482 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 154,658
Accounts receivable 228 120 - - - - 348
Interest receivable - - - 24,209 - - 24,209
Lease contract receivable, current - - - 540,000 - - 540,000

Total current assets 31,404 123,602 - 564,209 - - 719,215

Non-current assets
Deferred charges - bond premium and discounts - - - - (107,273) - (107,273)
Lease contract receivable - - - 3,225,000 - - 3,225,000

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred loss on debt refunding - - - - 14,167 - 14,167

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources $ 31,404 $ 123,602 $ - $ 3,789,209 $ (93,106) $ - $ 3,851,109

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES/NET POSITION
LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Accrued interest $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 24,209 $ 24,209
Accounts payable - - - - - - -
Bonds payable, current - - - - 540,000 - 540,000

Total current liabilities - - - - 540,000 24,209 564,209

Non-current liabilities
Bonds payable, net - - - - 3,225,000 - 3,225,000

Total liabilities - - - - 3,765,000 24,209 3,789,209

FUND BALANCE/NET POSITION
Committed 31,404 123,602 - 3,789,209 (3,858,106) (24,209) 61,900

Total liabilities and fund balances $ 31,404 $ 123,602 $ - $ 3,789,209 $ (93,106) $ - $ 3,851,109
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City of Petoskey

COMBINING COMPONENT UNIT STATEMENT OF REVENUES
AND EXPENDITURES/STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

Year ended December 31, 2021

Debt Service Funds
Reconciliation of Fund Statements of Revenues and

Expenditures to the Statement of Activities

Bear River Library Governmental
Marina Valley Improvement Financing Interest Statement of
Bonds Bonds Bonds Lease Debt Service Expense Activities

Program revenues
Lease income $ 116,500 $ 236,000 $ 254,298 $ (440,235) $ - $ - $ 166,563

Expenditures/expenses
Debt service 103,249 171,751 155,000 - (430,000) - -
Interest and fees 13,019 63,406 49,298 - 136,658 (10,234) 252,147

Total expenditures/expenses 116,268 235,157 254,298 - (293,342) (10,234) 302,147

Net revenue 232 843 - (440,235) 293,342 10,234 (135,584)

General revenues
Interest and investment earnings 1,779 866 - - - - 2,645

Revenues over (under) expenditures/
change in net position 2,011 1,709 - (440,235) 293,342 10,234 (132,939)

Fund balance/net position, beginning of year 29,393 121,893 - 4,229,444 (4,151,448) (34,443) 194,839

Fund balance/net position, end of year $ 31,404 $ 123,602 $ - $ 3,789,209 $ (3,858,106) $ (24,209) $ 61,900
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                  Agenda Memo 

 
BOARD: City Council 
 
MEETING DATE: May 16, 2022 PREPARED:  May 11, 2022 
 
AGENDA SUBJECT: Consent Agenda Resolution 
 
RECOMMENDATION: That the City Council approve this proposed resolution 
                                                                                                                                                     
 
The City Council will be asked to adopt a resolution that would approve the following 
consent agenda items:   
 

(1) Draft minutes of the May 2, 2022 regular session City Council meetings; and 
 

(2) Acknowledge receipt of a report from the City Manager concerning all checks that 
have been issued since May 2, 2022 for contract and vendor claims at $431,591.93, 
intergovernmental claims at $0, and the May 12 payroll at $220,222.52 for a total of 
$651,814.45. 
 
 

 
sb 
Enclosures 



 

  
 Minutes                     

C I T Y   C O U N C I L 
 

May 2, 2022 
 

A regular meeting of the City of Petoskey City Council was held in the City Hall Council Chambers, 
Petoskey, Michigan, on Monday, May 2, 2022.  This meeting was called to order at 7:00 P.M.; then, 
after a recitation of the Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag of the United States of America, a roll call then 
determined that the following were  
 
    Present: John Murphy, Mayor  
    Tina DeMoore, City Councilmember  
    Derek Shiels, City Councilmember 
    Brian Wagner, City Councilmember 
    Lindsey Walker, City Councilmember 
     
   Absent: None 
  
Also in attendance were Interim City Manager/Clerk-Treasurer Alan Terry, Parks and Recreation 
Director Kendall Klingelsmith, Finance Supervisor Audrey Plath and Executive Assistant Sarah Bek. 
 
Hear Lofts at Lumber Square Presentation 
Sarah Ford, representing the Petoskey-Harbor Springs Area Community Foundation (PHSACF), gave 
a brief presentation on the Lofts at Lumber Square project; reviewed project history including purchase 
agreement for 900 Emmet Street, approved PILOT from the City to support previous project and that 
the project was unsuccessful in securing MSHDA funding; that the PHSACF began working with Haan 
Development on a plan to secure the property to preserve it for workforce housing; that Michigan 
Economic Development Corporation (MEDC) announced new funding opportunity, Revitalization and 
Placemaking Program (RAP); that the PHSACF expects to purchase the property by the end of May; 
that Haan is preparing application to MEDC and finalizing capital stack to move forward with project; if 
funding is successful, expecting to break ground in spring 2023; reviewed RAP requirements and key 
factors which includes a letter of support from local/regional economic development organization and/or 
municipality; that the most competitive applications will include a financial contribution from the local 
unit of government; that workforce housing is less than 120% of Area Median Income; and that the 
application deadline is June 3, 2022.  
 
City Councilmembers discussed  the workforce housing program and differences between RAP and 
MISHDA programs; commented this is a nationwide issue with housing and commended the PHSACF 
for taking the lead on this project; discussed how RAP requires a financial contribution from local unit 
of government; heard from those excited that the project was revitalized; comments about the RRC 
application process and project funding sources; discussion on property ownership and regulating 
income levels; and Council expressed interest in supporting the project financially along with a letter. 
 
Consent Agenda - Resolution No. 19658 
Following introduction of the consent agenda for this meeting of May 2, 2022, City Councilmember 
Wagner moved that, seconded by City Councilmember Shiels adoption of the following resolution: 
 

BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council does and hereby confirms that the draft minutes 
of the April 18, 2022 regular session City Council meeting be and are hereby approved; 
and 
 



 
BE IT RESOLVED that receipt by the City Council of a report concerning all checks that 
had been issued since April 18, 2022 for contract and vendor claims at $431,591.93, 
intergovernmental claims at $17,297.22 and the April 28 payroll at $209,978.41, for a total 
of $658,867.56 be and is hereby acknowledged. 
 

Said resolution was adopted by the following vote: 
 
AYES: DeMoore, Shiels, Wagner, Walker, Murphy (5) 
NAYS: None (0) 
 
Hear Public Comment 
Mayor Murphy asked for public comments and heard comments from residents concerning the East 
Lake Street project and the short cement walkways and steps being removed from the City’s right-of-
way; heard from those opposed to removing cement areas due to the impact they have on homeowners; 
that they are existing infrastructure and should remain; heard that they help with deliveries and visitors 
to certain residence; that City staff notified residents of project, but residents were not informed that 
cement areas would be removed; that removal of cement areas diminishes homes value; heard from a 
candidate running for State Representative 107th District and introduced himself to the community; and 
heard the Center for Change is hosting “The Big Party” in Sault Ste. Marie promoting civic engagement 
and to educate, inspire and empower neighbors. 
 
The City Manager reviewed that the City has the ability to remove things in the right-of-way and is the 
current practice.  
 
City Councilmembers discussed concerns of residents; that Councilmember spoke with staff on the 
issue and the City has done a great job on sidewalks, has removed sidewalks in greenway on other 
reconstruction projects and City has the right to remove cement areas; discussed steps left on Division 
Street that was not a reconstruction project; discussed if Planning Commission review is required by 
the Planning Enabling Act and will request a legal opinion; and inquired on cost of replacing cement 
areas and if any potential safety concerns should be addressed. 
 
Hear City Manager Updates 
The City Manager reviewed that the Public Safety Open House is scheduled for June 18, 2022 from 
11:00 A.M. to 2:00 P.M.; that Public Safety’s Accreditation Assessment will be held on May 11 and 12; 
and that a house was moved Sunday from State Street to former City-owned property on Washington 
Street. 
 
Authorize Contract for Marina Ice Damage Repairs – Resolution No. 19659 
The City Manager reviewed that the 2022 Annual Budget included $50,000 for repairs to marina 
property; that this year was a season of heavy ice conditions, which resulted in damage to marina docks 
and pilings caused by ice lifting; and that only one bid from Walstrom Dock and Dredge, Harbor Springs, 
was submitted.  
 
City Councilmembers discussed when past marina repairs and budgeting for the work and noted costs 
are paid through restricted Marina funds. 
 
City Councilmember Shiels moved that, seconded by City Councilmember DeMoore to authorize 
contracting with Walstrom Dock and Dredge, Inc., Harbor Springs, for Marina ice damage repairs in the 
amount of $50,050.  
 
Said motion was adopted by the following vote: 
 
AYES:  DeMoore, Shiels, Wagner, Walker, Murphy (5) 
NAYS:  None (0) 
 
 

    
   

 



 
Council Comments 
Mayor Murphy asked for council comments and Councilmember Wagner commended the Women’s 
Resource Center’s efforts on sexual assault awareness and strongly recommended the book, The 
Rabbit Effect.  Councilmember Shiels inquired about temporary bollards which will again be placed 
along US-31 near Eppler Road for bike safety. Councilmember DeMoore thanked citizens and residents 
near East Lake Street project for their concerns, gave kudos to Emmet County Recycling since their 
program was recognized by MLive as a state model. Mayor Murphy commented the Trails Council 
requested a letter of support to Representative Bergman concerning the Little Traverse Wheelway, 
which he did. 
 
 
 
There being no further business to come before the City Council, this May 2, 2022, meeting of the City 
Council adjourned at 8:30 P.M. 
 
 
John Murphy, Mayor  Alan Terry, Clerk-Treasurer 



CITY OF PETOSKEY Check Register - Council Page:     1

Check Issue Dates: 4/28/2022 - 5/11/2022 May 11, 2022  02:53PM

GL Check Check Invoice Invoice GL Account Title Check

Period Issue Date Number Payee GL Account Amount

05/22 05/03/2022 96745 Northern Lights Recreation 101-770-767.000 Uniforms 100.00- V

05/22 05/03/2022 96747 PARKMOBILE LLC 514-587-775.000 Materials & Supplies 11.12- V

05/22 05/02/2022 96821 AT&T 592-538-850.000 Communications 54.75

05/22 05/02/2022 96821 AT&T 271-790-850.000 Communications 326.39

05/22 05/02/2022 96822 Jetter Depot 582-593-785.000 Small Tools & Supplies 4,000.00

05/22 05/02/2022 96822 Jetter Depot 582-588-785.000 Small Tools & Supplies 3,155.00

05/22 05/02/2022 96822 Jetter Depot 204-481-785.000 Small Tools & Supplies 1,500.00

05/22 05/02/2022 96822 Jetter Depot 592-549-785.000 Small Tools 4,000.00

05/22 05/02/2022 96823 Thompson Park Avenue Properties LLC 514-587-802.100 Cont. Svcs - Downtown Office 844.63

05/22 05/02/2022 96824 VSP 101-172-724.000 Fringe Benefits 26.88

05/22 05/02/2022 96824 VSP 101-201-724.000 Fringe Benefits 53.76

05/22 05/02/2022 96824 VSP 101-208-724.000 Fringe Benefits 8.12

05/22 05/02/2022 96824 VSP 101-215-724.000 Fringe Benefits 10.64

05/22 05/02/2022 96824 VSP 101-265-724.000 Fringe Benefits 11.98

05/22 05/02/2022 96824 VSP 101-268-724.000 Fringe Benefits 23.32

05/22 05/02/2022 96824 VSP 592-549-724.000 Fringe Benefits 137.76

05/22 05/02/2022 96824 VSP 592-560-724.000 Fringe Benefits 37.24

05/22 05/02/2022 96824 VSP 701-000-230.110 Dental & Vision Payable 39.76

05/22 05/02/2022 96824 VSP 101-773-724.000 Fringe Benefits 4.87

05/22 05/02/2022 96824 VSP 101-789-724.000 Fringe Benefits 11.37

05/22 05/02/2022 96824 VSP 204-481-724.000 Fringe Benefits 66.64

05/22 05/02/2022 96824 VSP 271-790-724.000 Fringe Benefits 162.40

05/22 05/02/2022 96824 VSP 514-587-724.000 Fringe Benefits 31.92

05/22 05/02/2022 96824 VSP 582-588-724.000 Fringe Benefits 112.00

05/22 05/02/2022 96824 VSP 101-345-724.000 Fringe Benefits 448.56

05/22 05/02/2022 96824 VSP 101-400-724.000 Fringe Benefits 55.22

05/22 05/02/2022 96824 VSP 101-441-724.000 Fringe Benefits 64.74

05/22 05/02/2022 96824 VSP 101-754-724.000 Fringe Benefits 13.24

05/22 05/02/2022 96824 VSP 101-756-724.000 Fringe Benefits 28.17

05/22 05/02/2022 96824 VSP 101-770-724.000 Fringe Benefits 62.05

05/22 05/04/2022 96825 24/7 Sewer & Drain Cleaning 592-556-802.000 Contracted Services 385.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96825 24/7 Sewer & Drain Cleaning 271-790-930.000 Building Repair & Maintenance 455.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96825 24/7 Sewer & Drain Cleaning 271-790-930.000 Building Repair & Maintenance 205.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96826 5H Irrigation & Maintenance 101-528-802.000 Contracted Services 2,795.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96827 AARP 271-790-958.100 Programming - Adult 100.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96828 Alliance Entertainment 271-790-761.000 Audio Visual - Adult 196.96

05/22 05/04/2022 96828 Alliance Entertainment 271-790-761.000 Audio Visual - Adult 201.76

05/22 05/04/2022 96828 Alliance Entertainment 271-790-761.000 Audio Visual - Adult 329.49

05/22 05/04/2022 96829 Amazon Capital Services 101-268-930.000 Building Repair & Maintenance 12.77

05/22 05/04/2022 96829 Amazon Capital Services 101-172-751.000 Office Supplies 3.29

05/22 05/04/2022 96829 Amazon Capital Services 101-201-751.000 Office Supplies 3.29

05/22 05/04/2022 96829 Amazon Capital Services 101-208-751.000 Office Supplies 2.30

05/22 05/04/2022 96829 Amazon Capital Services 101-257-751.000 Office Supplies 1.64

05/22 05/04/2022 96829 Amazon Capital Services 101-215-751.000 Office Supplies 1.97

05/22 05/04/2022 96829 Amazon Capital Services 101-345-751.000 Office Supplies 8.55

05/22 05/04/2022 96829 Amazon Capital Services 101-400-751.000 Office Supplies 1.64

05/22 05/04/2022 96829 Amazon Capital Services 101-441-751.000 Office Supplies 4.93

05/22 05/04/2022 96829 Amazon Capital Services 101-770-751.000 Office Supplies .99

05/22 05/04/2022 96829 Amazon Capital Services 101-773-775.000 Materials & Supplies .33

05/22 05/04/2022 96829 Amazon Capital Services 101-756-751.000 Office Supplies 3.29

05/22 05/04/2022 96829 Amazon Capital Services 101-789-751.000 Office Supplies .66

05/22 05/04/2022 96829 Amazon Capital Services 101-400-751.000 Office Supplies 14.85

05/22 05/04/2022 96829 Amazon Capital Services 101-172-751.000 Office Supplies 14.85

05/22 05/04/2022 96829 Amazon Capital Services 101-268-930.000 Building Repair & Maintenance 31.50

05/22 05/04/2022 96829 Amazon Capital Services 101-268-775.000 Materials & Supplies 32.98

05/22 05/04/2022 96830 AT&T 592-558-920.000 Public Utilities 394.62
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05/22 05/04/2022 96830 AT&T 592-555-920.000 Public Utilities 200.02

05/22 05/04/2022 96830 AT&T 101-345-850.000 Communications 132.66

05/22 05/04/2022 96830 AT&T 592-560-850.000 Communications 45.03

05/22 05/04/2022 96830 AT&T 592-560-850.000 Communications 48.85

05/22 05/04/2022 96830 AT&T 592-558-920.000 Public Utilities 48.66

05/22 05/04/2022 96830 AT&T 592-538-850.000 Communications 45.03

05/22 05/04/2022 96830 AT&T 592-538-850.000 Communications 45.03

05/22 05/04/2022 96830 AT&T 592-558-920.000 Public Utilities 566.85-

05/22 05/04/2022 96831 B & G Enterprises LLC 101-345-802.100 Contracted Services-Station W 740.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96832 Ballard's Plumbing & Heating 101-773-802.000 Contracted Services 4,627.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96832 Ballard's Plumbing & Heating 592-554-802.000 Contracted Services 4,650.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96832 Ballard's Plumbing & Heating 592-554-802.000 Contracted Services 3,093.75

05/22 05/04/2022 96832 Ballard's Plumbing & Heating 592-554-802.000 Contracted Services 2,032.20

05/22 05/04/2022 96833 Bradford Master Dry Cleaners 101-345-775.000 Materials & Supplies 312.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96834 Breathing Air Systems Inc. 101-345-802.000 Contracted Services 1,193.68

05/22 05/04/2022 96835 Cintas Corp #729 582-593-930.000 Building Repair & Maintenance 37.42

05/22 05/04/2022 96835 Cintas Corp #729 204-481-767.000 Uniforms 78.61

05/22 05/04/2022 96835 Cintas Corp #729 582-588-767.000 Other - Uniforms 82.05

05/22 05/04/2022 96835 Cintas Corp #729 592-560-767.000 Other - Uniforms 35.27

05/22 05/04/2022 96835 Cintas Corp #729 592-549-767.000 Other - Uniforms 35.27

05/22 05/04/2022 96835 Cintas Corp #729 101-268-802.000 Contracted Services 17.23

05/22 05/04/2022 96835 Cintas Corp #729 592-544-802.000 Contracted Services 50.44

05/22 05/04/2022 96835 Cintas Corp #729 582-593-930.000 Building Repair & Maintenance 10.07

05/22 05/04/2022 96835 Cintas Corp #729 204-481-767.000 Uniforms 85.05

05/22 05/04/2022 96835 Cintas Corp #729 582-588-767.000 Other - Uniforms 82.87

05/22 05/04/2022 96835 Cintas Corp #729 592-560-767.000 Other - Uniforms 38.49

05/22 05/04/2022 96835 Cintas Corp #729 592-549-767.000 Other - Uniforms 38.49

05/22 05/04/2022 96836 CITY TREAS. FOR UTILITY BILLS 101-265-920.000 Public Utilities 2,002.75

05/22 05/04/2022 96836 CITY TREAS. FOR UTILITY BILLS 101-268-920.000 Public Utilities 1,110.62

05/22 05/04/2022 96836 CITY TREAS. FOR UTILITY BILLS 101-345-920.000 Public Utilities 3,882.52

05/22 05/04/2022 96836 CITY TREAS. FOR UTILITY BILLS 101-345-920.100 Public Utilities-Station West 433.56

05/22 05/04/2022 96836 CITY TREAS. FOR UTILITY BILLS 101-754-920.000 Public Utilities 30.48

05/22 05/04/2022 96836 CITY TREAS. FOR UTILITY BILLS 101-770-920.000 Public Utilities 1,804.48

05/22 05/04/2022 96836 CITY TREAS. FOR UTILITY BILLS 592-555-920.000 Public Utilities 1,001.38

05/22 05/04/2022 96836 CITY TREAS. FOR UTILITY BILLS 514-587-920.000 Public Utilities 137.49

05/22 05/04/2022 96836 CITY TREAS. FOR UTILITY BILLS 582-586-920.000 Public Utilities 148.50

05/22 05/04/2022 96836 CITY TREAS. FOR UTILITY BILLS 582-593-920.000 Public Utilities 1,494.07

05/22 05/04/2022 96836 CITY TREAS. FOR UTILITY BILLS 592-538-920.000 Public Utilities 8,580.02

05/22 05/04/2022 96836 CITY TREAS. FOR UTILITY BILLS 592-542-920.000 Public Utilities 148.49

05/22 05/04/2022 96836 CITY TREAS. FOR UTILITY BILLS 592-551-920.000 Public Utilities 13,641.21

05/22 05/04/2022 96836 CITY TREAS. FOR UTILITY BILLS 101-773-920.000 Public Utilities 337.61

05/22 05/04/2022 96836 CITY TREAS. FOR UTILITY BILLS 101-789-920.000 Public Utilities 1,972.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96836 CITY TREAS. FOR UTILITY BILLS 204-448-920.000 Public Utilities 2,800.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96836 CITY TREAS. FOR UTILITY BILLS 271-790-920.000 Public Utilities 263.39

05/22 05/04/2022 96836 CITY TREAS. FOR UTILITY BILLS 271-790-920.000 Public Utilities 3,193.02

05/22 05/04/2022 96836 CITY TREAS. FOR UTILITY BILLS 514-587-802.100 Cont. Svcs - Downtown Office 49.42

05/22 05/04/2022 96837 Complete Paint & Supplies 101-770-775.000 Materials & Supplies 51.25

05/22 05/04/2022 96837 Complete Paint & Supplies 101-773-775.000 Materials & Supplies 13.90

05/22 05/04/2022 96838 Decka Digital LLC 204-481-751.000 Office Supplies 72.53

05/22 05/04/2022 96838 Decka Digital LLC 592-560-751.000 Office Supplies 95.24

05/22 05/04/2022 96838 Decka Digital LLC 582-593-751.000 Office Supplies 119.64

05/22 05/04/2022 96839 Derrer Oil Co. 661-598-759.000 Gas & Oil 2,502.18

05/22 05/04/2022 96839 Derrer Oil Co. 661-598-759.000 Gas & Oil 2,369.12

05/22 05/04/2022 96840 Drost Landscape 101-754-802.100 Contracted Svcs. - Spraying 1,644.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96840 Drost Landscape 514-587-802.000 Contracted Services 1,644.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96840 Drost Landscape 204-470-802.000 Contracted Services 2,192.00
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05/22 05/04/2022 96840 Drost Landscape 101-773-802.000 Contracted Services 2,445.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96840 Drost Landscape 204-470-802.000 Contracted Services 1,068.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96841 DUCH, JOHN 101-345-912.000 Education & Training 9.76

05/22 05/04/2022 96842 Dunkel Excavating Services Inc. 204-444-802.000 Contracted Services 1,501.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96842 Dunkel Excavating Services Inc. 204-010-111.000 Materials Inventory 1,409.52

05/22 05/04/2022 96843 EJ USA Inc. 592-547-775.000 Materials & Supplies 6,688.38

05/22 05/04/2022 96844 Elmer's Crane & Dozer Inc. 203-451-802.000 Contracted Services 41,662.86

05/22 05/04/2022 96844 Elmer's Crane & Dozer Inc. 204-444-802.000 Contracted Services 6,840.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96844 Elmer's Crane & Dozer Inc. 592-020-342.000 Distribution System 90,690.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96844 Elmer's Crane & Dozer Inc. 592-025-343.000 Distribution Systems 63,685.77

05/22 05/04/2022 96845 Empiric Solutions Inc. 101-228-802.000 Contracted Services 8,714.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96846 Englebrecht, Robert 101-257-802.100 Contracted Services - Assessor 3,750.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96847 Etna Supply 592-546-775.000 Materials & Supplies 1,590.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96847 Etna Supply 592-010-111.000 Inventory - Materials 600.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96847 Etna Supply 592-010-111.000 Inventory - Materials 184.80

05/22 05/04/2022 96847 Etna Supply 592-010-111.000 Inventory - Materials 3,360.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96847 Etna Supply 592-010-111.000 Inventory - Materials 1,600.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96847 Etna Supply 592-010-111.000 Inventory - Materials 3,714.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96848 Fastenal Company 661-598-785.000 Small Tools & Supplies 112.86

05/22 05/04/2022 96849 Flynn's Trenching Service 101-770-802.000 Contracted Services 250.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96850 Gale/Cengage Learning Inc. 271-790-760.000 Books - Adult 23.79

05/22 05/04/2022 96850 Gale/Cengage Learning Inc. 271-790-760.000 Books - Adult 44.78

05/22 05/04/2022 96851 HACH COMPANY 592-553-775.000 Materials & Supplies 153.14

05/22 05/04/2022 96852 Hubbell Roth & Clark Inc. 592-560-802.000 Contracted Services 127.11

05/22 05/04/2022 96853 Hyde Services LLC 582-081-642.300 Residential 500.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96854 Integrity Business Solutions 661-598-751.000 Office Supplies 79.39

05/22 05/04/2022 96854 Integrity Business Solutions 204-481-751.000 Office Supplies 79.39

05/22 05/04/2022 96854 Integrity Business Solutions 582-588-751.000 Office Supplies 79.40

05/22 05/04/2022 96854 Integrity Business Solutions 582-593-751.000 Office Supplies 79.40

05/22 05/04/2022 96854 Integrity Business Solutions 592-549-751.000 Office Supplies 79.40

05/22 05/04/2022 96854 Integrity Business Solutions 592-560-751.000 Office Supplies 79.40

05/22 05/04/2022 96854 Integrity Business Solutions 661-598-751.000 Office Supplies 27.95

05/22 05/04/2022 96854 Integrity Business Solutions 204-481-751.000 Office Supplies 27.95

05/22 05/04/2022 96854 Integrity Business Solutions 582-588-751.000 Office Supplies 27.95

05/22 05/04/2022 96854 Integrity Business Solutions 582-593-751.000 Office Supplies 27.95

05/22 05/04/2022 96854 Integrity Business Solutions 592-549-751.000 Office Supplies 27.95

05/22 05/04/2022 96854 Integrity Business Solutions 592-560-751.000 Office Supplies 27.96

05/22 05/04/2022 96854 Integrity Business Solutions 661-598-751.000 Office Supplies 30.89

05/22 05/04/2022 96854 Integrity Business Solutions 204-481-751.000 Office Supplies 30.90

05/22 05/04/2022 96854 Integrity Business Solutions 582-588-751.000 Office Supplies 30.90

05/22 05/04/2022 96854 Integrity Business Solutions 582-593-751.000 Office Supplies 30.90

05/22 05/04/2022 96854 Integrity Business Solutions 592-549-751.000 Office Supplies 30.90

05/22 05/04/2022 96854 Integrity Business Solutions 592-560-751.000 Office Supplies 30.90

05/22 05/04/2022 96854 Integrity Business Solutions 661-598-751.000 Office Supplies 27.95-

05/22 05/04/2022 96854 Integrity Business Solutions 204-481-751.000 Office Supplies 27.95-

05/22 05/04/2022 96854 Integrity Business Solutions 582-588-751.000 Office Supplies 27.95-

05/22 05/04/2022 96854 Integrity Business Solutions 582-593-751.000 Office Supplies 27.95-

05/22 05/04/2022 96854 Integrity Business Solutions 592-549-751.000 Office Supplies 27.95-

05/22 05/04/2022 96854 Integrity Business Solutions 592-560-751.000 Office Supplies 27.96-

05/22 05/04/2022 96855 Kendall Electric Inc. 592-554-775.000 Materials & Supplies 17.57

05/22 05/04/2022 96855 Kendall Electric Inc. 592-554-775.000 Materials & Supplies 17.57

05/22 05/04/2022 96856 Kring Chevrolet Cadillac, Dave 661-598-932.000 Vehicle Repair & Maintenance 1,148.55

05/22 05/04/2022 96857 L.S. ENGINEERING INC. 203-451-802.000 Contracted Services 2,356.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96857 L.S. ENGINEERING INC. 204-444-802.000 Contracted Services 707.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96857 L.S. ENGINEERING INC. 592-020-342.000 Distribution System 1,472.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96857 L.S. ENGINEERING INC. 592-025-343.000 Distribution Systems 1,237.00
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05/22 05/04/2022 96857 L.S. ENGINEERING INC. 582-020-360.000 Distribution System 118.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96857 L.S. ENGINEERING INC. 202-451-802.000 Contracted Services 680.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96857 L.S. ENGINEERING INC. 204-444-802.000 Contracted Services 120.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96858 Lakeshore Learning 271-790-760.100 Books-Children's 374.29

05/22 05/04/2022 96859 LEAF 592-560-751.000 Office Supplies 162.97

05/22 05/04/2022 96860 Lennemann, Mark 101-000-003.000 Marina - Working Fund 350.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96861 Lowery Underground Service 582-020-360.000 Distribution System 10,885.05

05/22 05/04/2022 96861 Lowery Underground Service 582-598-802.000 Contracted Services 5,660.70

05/22 05/04/2022 96861 Lowery Underground Service 582-020-360.000 Distribution System 3,961.17

05/22 05/04/2022 96861 Lowery Underground Service 582-598-802.000 Contracted Services 2,651.08

05/22 05/04/2022 96862 Lynn Auto Parts Inc. 661-010-111.000 Inventory - Materials 5.89

05/22 05/04/2022 96862 Lynn Auto Parts Inc. 661-598-932.000 Vehicle Repair & Maintenance 7.89

05/22 05/04/2022 96862 Lynn Auto Parts Inc. 661-010-111.000 Inventory - Materials 2.26

05/22 05/04/2022 96862 Lynn Auto Parts Inc. 101-770-775.000 Materials & Supplies 18.07

05/22 05/04/2022 96862 Lynn Auto Parts Inc. 101-770-775.000 Materials & Supplies 46.16

05/22 05/04/2022 96862 Lynn Auto Parts Inc. 661-598-932.000 Vehicle Repair & Maintenance 21.77

05/22 05/04/2022 96862 Lynn Auto Parts Inc. 661-010-111.000 Inventory - Materials 19.89

05/22 05/04/2022 96862 Lynn Auto Parts Inc. 661-598-931.000 Equipment Repair 23.37

05/22 05/04/2022 96862 Lynn Auto Parts Inc. 661-598-785.000 Small Tools & Supplies 18.65

05/22 05/04/2022 96862 Lynn Auto Parts Inc. 661-598-932.000 Vehicle Repair & Maintenance 29.20

05/22 05/04/2022 96862 Lynn Auto Parts Inc. 101-770-775.000 Materials & Supplies 34.30

05/22 05/04/2022 96862 Lynn Auto Parts Inc. 661-010-111.000 Inventory - Materials 8.55

05/22 05/04/2022 96862 Lynn Auto Parts Inc. 661-598-785.000 Small Tools & Supplies 1.38

05/22 05/04/2022 96862 Lynn Auto Parts Inc. 661-598-785.000 Small Tools & Supplies 1.38

05/22 05/04/2022 96862 Lynn Auto Parts Inc. 661-598-759.000 Gas & Oil 104.95

05/22 05/04/2022 96862 Lynn Auto Parts Inc. 661-010-111.000 Inventory - Materials 24.96

05/22 05/04/2022 96862 Lynn Auto Parts Inc. 661-598-785.000 Small Tools & Supplies 29.55

05/22 05/04/2022 96862 Lynn Auto Parts Inc. 101-345-775.000 Materials & Supplies 40.53

05/22 05/04/2022 96862 Lynn Auto Parts Inc. 661-010-111.000 Inventory - Materials 8.57

05/22 05/04/2022 96862 Lynn Auto Parts Inc. 661-010-111.000 Inventory - Materials 85.40

05/22 05/04/2022 96862 Lynn Auto Parts Inc. 661-010-111.000 Inventory - Materials 57.34

05/22 05/04/2022 96862 Lynn Auto Parts Inc. 661-010-111.000 Inventory - Materials 13.16

05/22 05/04/2022 96862 Lynn Auto Parts Inc. 592-554-775.000 Materials & Supplies 5.34

05/22 05/04/2022 96862 Lynn Auto Parts Inc. 661-598-759.000 Gas & Oil 103.69

05/22 05/04/2022 96862 Lynn Auto Parts Inc. 661-598-785.000 Small Tools & Supplies 58.34

05/22 05/04/2022 96862 Lynn Auto Parts Inc. 661-010-111.000 Inventory - Materials 8.57-

05/22 05/04/2022 96862 Lynn Auto Parts Inc. 661-010-111.000 Inventory - Materials 32.05

05/22 05/04/2022 96862 Lynn Auto Parts Inc. 661-010-111.000 Inventory - Materials 11.71

05/22 05/04/2022 96862 Lynn Auto Parts Inc. 203-475-775.000 Materials & Supplies 39.75

05/22 05/04/2022 96862 Lynn Auto Parts Inc. 202-475-775.000 Materials & Supplies 31.16

05/22 05/04/2022 96862 Lynn Auto Parts Inc. 101-789-775.000 Materials & Supplies 16.35

05/22 05/04/2022 96862 Lynn Auto Parts Inc. 661-010-111.000 Inventory - Materials 6.24

05/22 05/04/2022 96862 Lynn Auto Parts Inc. 661-598-759.000 Gas & Oil 104.95

05/22 05/04/2022 96863 MCLAREN NORTHERN MICHIGAN 101-345-802.000 Contracted Services 15.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96864 Mead & Hunt 592-559-802.000 Contracted Services 400.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96864 Mead & Hunt 592-556-802.000 Contracted Services 635.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96865 Metro Wire & Cable Corp. 582-590-775.000 Materials & Supplies 1,725.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96866 Michigan Library Association 271-790-915.000 Memberships & Dues 997.99

05/22 05/04/2022 96867 Michigan Rural Water Assoc. 592-549-915.000 Education & Training 320.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96868 MICPA 101-215-915.000 Memberships & Dues 335.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96869 MONTMORENCY COUNTY PUBLIC  271-790-955.000 Miscellaneous 23.99

05/22 05/04/2022 96870 Mountaintop Tree Company 204-470-802.000 Contracted Services 90.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96871 Northern Lights 101-770-767.000 Uniforms 100.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96872 On Duty Gear LLC 101-345-775.000 Materials & Supplies 252.49

05/22 05/04/2022 96873 P.C. Lawn Care 582-593-930.000 Building Repair & Maintenance 595.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96873 P.C. Lawn Care 202-467-802.000 Contracted Services 420.00
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05/22 05/04/2022 96873 P.C. Lawn Care 582-584-802.000 Contracted Services 105.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96873 P.C. Lawn Care 592-537-802.000 Contracted Services 437.50

05/22 05/04/2022 96873 P.C. Lawn Care 592-543-802.000 Contracted Services 437.50

05/22 05/04/2022 96873 P.C. Lawn Care 592-554-802.000 Contracted Services 437.50

05/22 05/04/2022 96873 P.C. Lawn Care 592-558-802.000 Contracted Services 437.50

05/22 05/04/2022 96874 PARKMOBILE LLC 514-587-775.000 Materials & Supplies 11.12

05/22 05/04/2022 96875 Penchura L.L.C. 101-770-985.000 Equipment 7,174.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96876 Performance Painting 592-554-802.000 Contracted Services 1,451.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96876 Performance Painting 592-554-802.000 Contracted Services 1,844.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96877 Petoskey Towing Inc. 661-598-932.000 Vehicle Repair & Maintenance 185.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96877 Petoskey Towing Inc. 661-598-932.000 Vehicle Repair & Maintenance 125.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96878 Power Line Supply 582-010-111.000 Inventory - Materials 8,210.64

05/22 05/04/2022 96878 Power Line Supply 582-010-111.000 Inventory - Materials 345.76

05/22 05/04/2022 96878 Power Line Supply 582-586-775.000 Materials & Supplies 586.08

05/22 05/04/2022 96878 Power Line Supply 582-592-775.000 Materials & Supplies 315.36

05/22 05/04/2022 96879 Pro Image Design 661-598-932.000 Vehicle Repair & Maintenance 219.60

05/22 05/04/2022 96879 Pro Image Design 661-598-931.000 Equipment Repair 219.60

05/22 05/04/2022 96880 SiteOne Landscape Supply 203-451-802.000 Contracted Services 314.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96880 SiteOne Landscape Supply 204-444-802.000 Contracted Services 94.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96880 SiteOne Landscape Supply 592-020-342.000 Distribution System 196.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96880 SiteOne Landscape Supply 592-025-343.000 Distribution Systems 165.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96880 SiteOne Landscape Supply 582-020-360.000 Distribution System 15.63

05/22 05/04/2022 96880 SiteOne Landscape Supply 101-770-775.000 Materials & Supplies 2.05

05/22 05/04/2022 96880 SiteOne Landscape Supply 101-754-775.000 Materials & Supplies 1,000.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96880 SiteOne Landscape Supply 101-773-775.000 Materials & Supplies 300.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96880 SiteOne Landscape Supply 101-789-775.000 Materials & Supplies 307.92

05/22 05/04/2022 96880 SiteOne Landscape Supply 101-754-775.000 Materials & Supplies 483.25

05/22 05/04/2022 96880 SiteOne Landscape Supply 101-770-802.100 Contracted Svcs. - Spraying 113.85

05/22 05/04/2022 96881 Spartan Distributors Inc. 661-598-931.000 Equipment Repair 129.96

05/22 05/04/2022 96881 Spartan Distributors Inc. 661-598-931.000 Equipment Repair 562.83

05/22 05/04/2022 96882 Staples Advantage 101-172-751.000 Office Supplies 30.34

05/22 05/04/2022 96882 Staples Advantage 101-201-751.000 Office Supplies 30.34

05/22 05/04/2022 96882 Staples Advantage 101-208-751.000 Office Supplies 21.24

05/22 05/04/2022 96882 Staples Advantage 101-257-751.000 Office Supplies 15.17

05/22 05/04/2022 96882 Staples Advantage 101-215-751.000 Office Supplies 18.20

05/22 05/04/2022 96882 Staples Advantage 101-345-751.000 Office Supplies 78.88

05/22 05/04/2022 96882 Staples Advantage 592-549-751.000 Office Supplies 95.87

05/22 05/04/2022 96882 Staples Advantage 592-560-751.000 Office Supplies 95.88

05/22 05/04/2022 96882 Staples Advantage 101-400-751.000 Office Supplies 15.17

05/22 05/04/2022 96882 Staples Advantage 101-441-751.000 Office Supplies 45.51

05/22 05/04/2022 96882 Staples Advantage 101-770-751.000 Office Supplies 9.10

05/22 05/04/2022 96882 Staples Advantage 101-773-775.000 Materials & Supplies 3.03

05/22 05/04/2022 96882 Staples Advantage 101-756-751.000 Office Supplies 30.34

05/22 05/04/2022 96882 Staples Advantage 101-789-751.000 Office Supplies 6.06

05/22 05/04/2022 96883 Terry, Alan 101-262-751.000 Office Supplies 77.83

05/22 05/04/2022 96884 U.S. Bank Equipment Finance 661-598-751.000 Office Supplies 62.74

05/22 05/04/2022 96884 U.S. Bank Equipment Finance 204-481-751.000 Office Supplies 62.74

05/22 05/04/2022 96884 U.S. Bank Equipment Finance 582-588-751.000 Office Supplies 62.74

05/22 05/04/2022 96884 U.S. Bank Equipment Finance 582-593-751.000 Office Supplies 62.74

05/22 05/04/2022 96884 U.S. Bank Equipment Finance 592-549-751.000 Office Supplies 62.74

05/22 05/04/2022 96884 U.S. Bank Equipment Finance 592-560-751.000 Office Supplies 62.74

05/22 05/04/2022 96885 USA Blue Book 592-551-775.000 Materials & Supplies 1,655.31

05/22 05/04/2022 96886 Valley City Linen 271-790-752.000 Building Supplies 25.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96886 Valley City Linen 271-790-752.000 Building Supplies 25.00

05/22 05/04/2022 96886 Valley City Linen 271-790-752.000 Building Supplies 25.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96897 Access Locksmithing Inc. 101-265-802.000 Contracted Services 765.00

M = Manual Check, V = Void Check
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05/22 05/11/2022 96898 All-Phase Electric Supply 592-546-775.000 Materials & Supplies 43.84

05/22 05/11/2022 96898 All-Phase Electric Supply 582-586-775.000 Materials & Supplies 58.21

05/22 05/11/2022 96899 Ballard's Plumbing & Heating 101-773-802.000 Contracted Services 4,627.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96900 Baytees 101-770-767.000 Uniforms 336.80

05/22 05/11/2022 96901 Bingaman, Gayle 271-790-802.000 Contracted Services 330.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96902 Blarney Castle Oil Co. 101-789-772.000 Gas & Oil 7,701.02

05/22 05/11/2022 96903 Bound Tree Medical LLC 101-345-775.000 Materials & Supplies 34.17

05/22 05/11/2022 96904 Brabant, Jennifer 271-790-802.000 Contracted Services 360.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96905 BSN Sports Inc. 101-756-778.000 Playground & Athletic Equip. 459.94

05/22 05/11/2022 96906 Carter's Imagewear & Awards 101-773-775.000 Materials & Supplies 70.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96907 Centaris 271-790-802.000 Contracted Services 386.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96908 Center Point Large Print 271-790-760.000 Books - Adult 54.54

05/22 05/11/2022 96909 Char-Em United Way 701-000-230.800 United Fund 49.75

05/22 05/11/2022 96910 Collias-Glaser, Hellene Kay 271-790-802.000 Contracted Services 240.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96911 Complete Paint & Supplies 101-770-775.000 Materials & Supplies 41.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96911 Complete Paint & Supplies 101-773-775.000 Materials & Supplies 67.74

05/22 05/11/2022 96911 Complete Paint & Supplies 101-770-775.000 Materials & Supplies 148.67

05/22 05/11/2022 96911 Complete Paint & Supplies 101-773-775.000 Materials & Supplies 45.43

05/22 05/11/2022 96912 Consort Display Group 101-770-931.000 Equipment Repair 1,324.09

05/22 05/11/2022 96913 David L Hoffman Landscaping & Nursery 204-470-802.000 Contracted Services 6,090.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96913 David L Hoffman Landscaping & Nursery 101-770-802.100 Contracted Svcs. - Spraying 2,208.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96913 David L Hoffman Landscaping & Nursery 101-773-802.000 Contracted Services 1,316.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96913 David L Hoffman Landscaping & Nursery 101-754-802.100 Contracted Svcs. - Spraying 2,196.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96913 David L Hoffman Landscaping & Nursery 204-470-802.000 Contracted Services 8,446.10

05/22 05/11/2022 96914 Dodge, Karen 271-790-802.000 Contracted Services 300.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96915 Ducastel, Barbara 271-790-802.000 Contracted Services 750.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96916 Dunn's Business Solutions 101-172-751.000 Office Supplies 9.84

05/22 05/11/2022 96916 Dunn's Business Solutions 101-201-751.000 Office Supplies 9.84

05/22 05/11/2022 96916 Dunn's Business Solutions 101-208-751.000 Office Supplies 6.89

05/22 05/11/2022 96916 Dunn's Business Solutions 101-257-751.000 Office Supplies 4.92

05/22 05/11/2022 96916 Dunn's Business Solutions 101-215-751.000 Office Supplies 5.90

05/22 05/11/2022 96916 Dunn's Business Solutions 101-345-751.000 Office Supplies 25.58

05/22 05/11/2022 96916 Dunn's Business Solutions 101-400-751.000 Office Supplies 4.92

05/22 05/11/2022 96916 Dunn's Business Solutions 101-441-751.000 Office Supplies 14.76

05/22 05/11/2022 96916 Dunn's Business Solutions 101-770-751.000 Office Supplies 2.95

05/22 05/11/2022 96916 Dunn's Business Solutions 101-773-775.000 Materials & Supplies .98

05/22 05/11/2022 96916 Dunn's Business Solutions 101-756-751.000 Office Supplies 9.84

05/22 05/11/2022 96916 Dunn's Business Solutions 101-789-751.000 Office Supplies 1.95

05/22 05/11/2022 96917 EJ USA Inc. 592-547-775.000 Materials & Supplies 1,397.25

05/22 05/11/2022 96917 EJ USA Inc. 592-547-775.000 Materials & Supplies 1,990.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96918 Elmer's Crane & Dozer Inc. 592-545-775.000 Materials & Supplies 62.73

05/22 05/11/2022 96919 Eyes Only Media LLC 248-540-882.180 Winter Blues Carnival 308.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96920 Factor Systems LLC 101-208-803.000 Contracted Services - Billing 3,756.83

05/22 05/11/2022 96921 Fisher, Amy 271-790-802.000 Contracted Services 270.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96922 Five Star Screen Printing Plus 101-756-767.000 Uniforms 172.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96922 Five Star Screen Printing Plus 101-770-767.000 Uniforms 741.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96923 Fraternal Order of Police 701-000-230.400 Union Dues 945.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96924 FROMUTH 101-756-775.000 Materials & Supplies 2,520.80

05/22 05/11/2022 96925 Gibby's Garage 661-598-931.000 Equipment Repair 105.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96925 Gibby's Garage 661-598-932.000 Vehicle Repair & Maintenance 455.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96925 Gibby's Garage 582-593-930.000 Building Repair & Maintenance 245.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96925 Gibby's Garage 202-475-802.000 Contracted Services 105.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96925 Gibby's Garage 661-598-931.000 Equipment Repair 105.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96925 Gibby's Garage 661-598-932.000 Vehicle Repair & Maintenance 560.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96925 Gibby's Garage 582-593-930.000 Building Repair & Maintenance 175.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96925 Gibby's Garage 582-593-930.000 Building Repair & Maintenance 35.00

M = Manual Check, V = Void Check
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05/22 05/11/2022 96925 Gibby's Garage 592-556-802.000 Contracted Services 595.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96925 Gibby's Garage 661-598-932.000 Vehicle Repair & Maintenance 35.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96926 Great Lakes Pipe & Supply 101-268-775.000 Materials & Supplies 14.44

05/22 05/11/2022 96926 Great Lakes Pipe & Supply 101-770-775.000 Materials & Supplies 62.18

05/22 05/11/2022 96926 Great Lakes Pipe & Supply 101-770-775.000 Materials & Supplies 204.39

05/22 05/11/2022 96926 Great Lakes Pipe & Supply 101-789-775.000 Materials & Supplies 28.01

05/22 05/11/2022 96927 Green Projects Group 582-588-803.000 Energy Optimization Program 48.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96927 Green Projects Group 582-588-803.000 Energy Optimization Program 100.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96927 Green Projects Group 582-588-803.000 Energy Optimization Program 100.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96927 Green Projects Group 582-588-803.000 Energy Optimization Program 80.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96927 Green Projects Group 582-588-803.000 Energy Optimization Program 100.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96927 Green Projects Group 582-588-803.000 Energy Optimization Program 100.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96927 Green Projects Group 582-588-803.000 Energy Optimization Program 100.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96927 Green Projects Group 582-588-803.000 Energy Optimization Program 100.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96927 Green Projects Group 582-588-803.000 Energy Optimization Program 100.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96927 Green Projects Group 582-588-803.000 Energy Optimization Program 100.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96927 Green Projects Group 582-588-803.000 Energy Optimization Program 100.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96927 Green Projects Group 582-588-803.000 Energy Optimization Program 100.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96927 Green Projects Group 582-588-803.000 Energy Optimization Program 100.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96927 Green Projects Group 582-588-803.000 Energy Optimization Program 100.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96927 Green Projects Group 582-588-803.000 Energy Optimization Program 100.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96927 Green Projects Group 582-588-803.000 Energy Optimization Program 100.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96927 Green Projects Group 582-588-803.000 Energy Optimization Program 100.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96927 Green Projects Group 582-588-803.000 Energy Optimization Program 100.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96927 Green Projects Group 582-588-803.000 Energy Optimization Program 100.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96927 Green Projects Group 582-588-803.000 Energy Optimization Program 100.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96927 Green Projects Group 582-588-803.000 Energy Optimization Program 48.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96927 Green Projects Group 582-588-803.000 Energy Optimization Program 100.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96927 Green Projects Group 582-588-803.000 Energy Optimization Program 100.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96927 Green Projects Group 582-588-803.000 Energy Optimization Program 100.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96927 Green Projects Group 582-588-803.000 Energy Optimization Program 100.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96927 Green Projects Group 582-588-803.000 Energy Optimization Program 100.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96927 Green Projects Group 582-588-803.000 Energy Optimization Program 100.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96927 Green Projects Group 582-588-803.000 Energy Optimization Program 100.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96927 Green Projects Group 582-588-803.000 Energy Optimization Program 100.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96927 Green Projects Group 582-588-803.000 Energy Optimization Program 60.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96927 Green Projects Group 582-588-803.000 Energy Optimization Program 60.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96927 Green Projects Group 582-588-803.000 Energy Optimization Program 60.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96927 Green Projects Group 582-588-803.000 Energy Optimization Program 60.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96927 Green Projects Group 582-588-803.000 Energy Optimization Program 100.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96927 Green Projects Group 582-588-803.000 Energy Optimization Program 100.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96928 Grimes, Kenn 271-790-760.000 Books - Adult 12.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96929 GRP Engineering Inc. 582-588-802.000 Contracted Services 1,305.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96929 GRP Engineering Inc. 582-588-802.000 Contracted Services 240.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96929 GRP Engineering Inc. 582-588-802.000 Contracted Services 1,397.50

05/22 05/11/2022 96929 GRP Engineering Inc. 582-588-802.000 Contracted Services 6,040.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96929 GRP Engineering Inc. 582-588-802.000 Contracted Services 525.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96930 Haley's Plumbing & Heating 592-547-802.000 Contracted Services 125.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96931 Hansen, Carol Margaret 271-790-802.000 Contracted Services 120.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96932 Haviland Products Company 592-540-783.000 Chemicals 2,057.94

05/22 05/11/2022 96932 Haviland Products Company 592-551-783.000 Chemicals 2,353.20

05/22 05/11/2022 96933 Himebauch, Kelly L 271-790-802.000 Contracted Services 330.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96934 Hotshots Drain Cleaning LLC 592-556-802.000 Contracted Services 285.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96935 IR Electric Motor Service 592-554-802.000 Contracted Services 205.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96935 IR Electric Motor Service 592-554-802.000 Contracted Services 169.50

05/22 05/11/2022 96936 Jakeway, Patricia 271-790-802.000 Contracted Services 750.00

M = Manual Check, V = Void Check
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05/22 05/11/2022 96937 Knickerbocker, Lynsa 271-790-802.000 Contracted Services 210.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96938 KSS Enterprises 101-773-931.000 Equipment Repair 389.82

05/22 05/11/2022 96939 Lee Roofing Inc. 271-790-930.000 Building Repair & Maintenance 466.17

05/22 05/11/2022 96939 Lee Roofing Inc. 271-790-930.000 Building Repair & Maintenance 466.17

05/22 05/11/2022 96940 LexisNexis Risk Data Management Inc. 514-587-802.000 Contracted Services 150.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96941 MCLAREN NORTHERN MICHIGAN 101-345-802.000 Contracted Services 15.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96941 MCLAREN NORTHERN MICHIGAN 101-345-802.000 Contracted Services 15.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96942 Meyer Ace Hardware 101-345-751.000 Office Supplies 30.58

05/22 05/11/2022 96942 Meyer Ace Hardware 101-345-751.000 Office Supplies 25.19

05/22 05/11/2022 96942 Meyer Ace Hardware 101-268-775.000 Materials & Supplies 18.19

05/22 05/11/2022 96942 Meyer Ace Hardware 101-770-775.000 Materials & Supplies 26.99

05/22 05/11/2022 96943 MEYERSON, VALERIE 271-790-751.000 Office/Library Supplies 39.26

05/22 05/11/2022 96943 MEYERSON, VALERIE 271-790-905.000 Printing/Advertising/Postage .98

05/22 05/11/2022 96943 MEYERSON, VALERIE 271-790-958.100 Programming - Adult 6.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96943 MEYERSON, VALERIE 271-790-958.200 Programming - Young Adult 14.96

05/22 05/11/2022 96943 MEYERSON, VALERIE 271-790-751.000 Office/Library Supplies 15.89

05/22 05/11/2022 96943 MEYERSON, VALERIE 271-790-958.100 Programming - Adult 7.90

05/22 05/11/2022 96943 MEYERSON, VALERIE 271-790-955.000 Miscellaneous 27.64

05/22 05/11/2022 96944 Michigan Association of Chiefs of Police 101-345-915.000 Memberships & Dues 50.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96945 Northern A-1 Environmental Services 592-556-802.000 Contracted Services 1,447.45

05/22 05/11/2022 96945 Northern A-1 Environmental Services 592-544-802.000 Contracted Services 1,447.45

05/22 05/11/2022 96946 Northern Gale Cleaning & Property Mgmt 271-790-802.000 Contracted Services 300.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96947 Overdrive Inc. 271-790-762.000 Electronic Materials 15.84

05/22 05/11/2022 96947 Overdrive Inc. 271-790-762.000 Electronic Materials 147.44

05/22 05/11/2022 96947 Overdrive Inc. 271-790-762.000 Electronic Materials 147.94

05/22 05/11/2022 96948 Owens, Ann Marie 271-790-802.000 Contracted Services 60.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96949 Performance Painting 514-587-802.000 Contracted Services 3,795.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96949 Performance Painting 202-475-802.000 Contracted Services 442.50

05/22 05/11/2022 96949 Performance Painting 203-475-802.000 Contracted Services 442.50

05/22 05/11/2022 96950 Petoskey High School 271-790-760.000 Books - Adult 30.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96951 Petoskey Rotary Sunrise Charities Inc. 248-540-884.100 Fourth of July 1,000.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96952 Police and Firemen's Insurance 701-000-230.185 Police and Fire Insurance 379.38

05/22 05/11/2022 96953 Power Line Supply 582-010-111.000 Inventory - Materials 3,538.16

05/22 05/11/2022 96953 Power Line Supply 582-010-111.000 Inventory - Materials 133.20

05/22 05/11/2022 96953 Power Line Supply 582-586-775.000 Materials & Supplies 44.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96954 Preston Feather 203-475-775.000 Materials & Supplies 32.97

05/22 05/11/2022 96954 Preston Feather 101-789-775.000 Materials & Supplies 82.95

05/22 05/11/2022 96954 Preston Feather 101-789-775.000 Materials & Supplies 36.20

05/22 05/11/2022 96954 Preston Feather 101-789-775.000 Materials & Supplies 49.14

05/22 05/11/2022 96954 Preston Feather 101-789-775.000 Materials & Supplies 49.14-

05/22 05/11/2022 96954 Preston Feather 101-789-775.000 Materials & Supplies 52.26

05/22 05/11/2022 96954 Preston Feather 101-789-775.000 Materials & Supplies 22.96

05/22 05/11/2022 96954 Preston Feather 101-789-775.000 Materials & Supplies 65.97

05/22 05/11/2022 96954 Preston Feather 101-090-682.000 Other 58.43-

05/22 05/11/2022 96955 Quality Car & Truck Repair Inc. 101-345-775.000 Materials & Supplies 324.74

05/22 05/11/2022 96956 Range Telecommunications 204-481-850.000 Communications 50.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96956 Range Telecommunications 101-756-850.000 Communications 20.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96956 Range Telecommunications 582-593-850.000 Communications 100.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96956 Range Telecommunications 592-560-850.000 Communications 36.70

05/22 05/11/2022 96956 Range Telecommunications 592-549-850.000 Communications 36.70

05/22 05/11/2022 96957 Ray, Robin 271-790-958.000 Programming - Children 138.91

05/22 05/11/2022 96958 REID FURNITURE COMPANY 514-587-802.100 Cont. Svcs - Downtown Office 1,989.80

05/22 05/11/2022 96959 Residential Garage Door Co. 101-268-802.000 Contracted Services 876.69

05/22 05/11/2022 96960 RS Technical Services Inc. 592-554-775.000 Materials & Supplies 4,606.33

05/22 05/11/2022 96961 Sanisweep Inc. 202-466-802.000 Contracted Services 2,760.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96961 Sanisweep Inc. 203-466-802.000 Contracted Services 4,000.00

M = Manual Check, V = Void Check
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05/22 05/11/2022 96961 Sanisweep Inc. 202-466-802.000 Contracted Services 2,730.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96962 SCHOLL, LISA 271-790-880.000 Community Outreach 5.37

05/22 05/11/2022 96963 STAFFORD'S PERRY HOTEL 101-172-860.000 Education & Training 666.80

05/22 05/11/2022 96964 Staples Advantage 101-172-751.000 Office Supplies 52.72

05/22 05/11/2022 96964 Staples Advantage 101-201-751.000 Office Supplies 52.72

05/22 05/11/2022 96964 Staples Advantage 101-208-751.000 Office Supplies 36.90

05/22 05/11/2022 96964 Staples Advantage 101-257-751.000 Office Supplies 26.36

05/22 05/11/2022 96964 Staples Advantage 101-215-751.000 Office Supplies 31.63

05/22 05/11/2022 96964 Staples Advantage 101-345-751.000 Office Supplies 137.07

05/22 05/11/2022 96964 Staples Advantage 101-770-751.000 Office Supplies 113.01

05/22 05/11/2022 96964 Staples Advantage 582-588-751.000 Office Supplies 11.01

05/22 05/11/2022 96964 Staples Advantage 101-400-751.000 Office Supplies 26.36

05/22 05/11/2022 96964 Staples Advantage 101-441-751.000 Office Supplies 79.08

05/22 05/11/2022 96964 Staples Advantage 101-770-751.000 Office Supplies 15.82

05/22 05/11/2022 96964 Staples Advantage 101-773-775.000 Materials & Supplies 5.27

05/22 05/11/2022 96964 Staples Advantage 101-756-751.000 Office Supplies 52.72

05/22 05/11/2022 96964 Staples Advantage 101-789-751.000 Office Supplies 10.56

05/22 05/11/2022 96965 State of Michigan 271-790-931.000 Equipment Repair & Maintenance 60.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96966 State of Michigan-Dept of LARA 592-554-802.000 Contracted Services 120.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96967 Sure Lock & Homes LLC 101-265-802.000 Contracted Services 850.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96968 TEAMSTERS LOCAL #214 701-000-230.400 Union Dues 1,052.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96969 T-Mobile 271-790-850.000 Communications 344.24

05/22 05/11/2022 96970 TwoGlassGents 271-790-930.000 Building Repair & Maintenance 1,200.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96971 Unique Management Services Inc. 271-790-802.000 Contracted Services 23.30

05/22 05/11/2022 96971 Unique Management Services Inc. 271-790-802.000 Contracted Services 50.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96972 Up North Service LLC 514-587-802.000 Contracted Services 531.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96972 Up North Service LLC 204-550-802.000 Contracted Services 35.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96973 Van's Business Machines 514-587-802.000 Contracted Services 80.08

05/22 05/11/2022 96974 Voorheis, Margaret Ann 271-790-802.000 Contracted Services 540.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96975 W.W. Fairbairn & Sons 101-773-775.000 Materials & Supplies 79.99

05/22 05/11/2022 96976 Wagner, Laura 271-790-802.000 Contracted Services 270.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96977 Whitehead-vanLobenSels, Sharon 271-790-802.000 Contracted Services 180.00

05/22 05/11/2022 96978 Yallup, Tracey 271-790-802.000 Contracted Services 420.00

05/22 05/11/2022 999316 ACH-CHILD SUPPORT 701-000-230.160 Child Support 160.23

05/22 05/11/2022 999317 ACH-EFTPS 701-000-230.200 FICA Withholding Payable 12,956.36

05/22 05/11/2022 999317 ACH-EFTPS 701-000-230.100 Federal Withholding Payable 20,539.69

05/22 05/11/2022 999317 ACH-EFTPS 701-000-230.200 FICA Withholding Payable 12,956.36

05/22 05/11/2022 999317 ACH-EFTPS 701-000-230.200 FICA Withholding Payable 3,030.12

05/22 05/11/2022 999317 ACH-EFTPS 701-000-230.200 FICA Withholding Payable 3,030.12

05/22 05/11/2022 999318 ACH-ICMA 457 701-000-230.700 Employees ICMA Payable 819.29

05/22 05/11/2022 999318 ACH-ICMA 457 701-000-230.700 Employees ICMA Payable 6,335.00

05/22 05/11/2022 999318 ACH-ICMA 457 701-000-230.700 Employees ICMA Payable 1,643.14

05/22 05/11/2022 999319 ICMA ROTH % 701-000-230.900 Roth IRA 84.00

05/22 05/11/2022 999320 ICMA-ROTH 701-000-230.900 Roth IRA 140.00

          Grand Totals:  575,152.80

M = Manual Check, V = Void Check
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Check Number Check Issue Date Name GL Account Amount

96499 05/11/2022 Farrugia, Carolyn 582588803000 367.32

96500 05/11/2022 Mcgilvray, Roger 582588803000 50.00

96887 05/04/2022 Drenth, Megan 582081642300 35.30

96888 05/04/2022 Etter, Luke 582081642300 246.75

96889 05/04/2022 Healey, Cloey 582081642300 157.09

96890 05/04/2022 Hill, Sonja 582081642300 49.61

96891 05/04/2022 Jones, Bob & Susannah 582081642300 109.38

96892 05/04/2022 Neirink, Elena 582081642300 3.73

96893 05/04/2022 Schollard, Robert 582081642300 7.18

96894 05/04/2022 Crooked Tree Capital Management Inc. 582040285000 124.54

96895 05/04/2022 Drenth, John 582040285000 31.17

96896 05/04/2022 King Insurance 582040285000 12.17

          Grand Totals:  1,194.24



  
   

                  Agenda Memo 

 
BOARD: City Council 
 
MEETING DATE: May 16, 2022 PREPARED:  May 5, 2022 
 
AGENDA SUBJECT: Tax Millage Rate Resolution 
 
RECOMMENDATION: That City Council adopt this proposed resolution 
                                                                                                                                                       
 
Background  City Council approved the 2022 Annual Budget at their November 15, 2021, 
meeting which included a provision for property-tax millage rates to remain the same as in 
2021.  City Council is now being asked to formally establish the millage rates necessary to 
provide the budgeted property-tax revenue approved in the 2022 Annual Budget for the 
General Fund, Library Fund, and Right-of-Way Fund. 
 
Millages  Millage rates are authorized by State law, City Charter, and voter approval.  The 
total of all five City millage rate beginning amounts was 19 mills, with the City Charter setting 
the general-operating millage at ten mills and the right-of-way millage at five mills.  State law 
allows up to two mills for solid-waste programs and one mill for library purposes, and a second 
mill with voter approval, with all rates subject to rollback by the “Headlee Amendment”. 
 
Taxable Value  The 2022 Annual Budget estimated property-tax revenues are conservatively 
based on the same millage rates established last year at $7,505,000, with a 2.5% increase in 
taxable value. The actual taxable value for 2022 has now been established at $587,531,579, 
for a 7.39% increase over 2021, or $26,867,400 more than the 2022 estimated amount. 
 
The actual increase in taxable value is higher than the estimated taxable value and the State 
inflation rate multiplier is 1.033%, which is less than the actual taxable value increase of 
7.39%.  This lower rate of inflation used in computing the Headlee tax limitation, requires the 
City’s millage rates to be rolled back. Therefore, the City will not be able to realize the entire 
increase in taxable value, which has been an issue in recent years. 
 
Even though the City’s taxable value in recent years has increased by 1% to 7% due to market 
value increases, the State’s rate of inflation has required the City to roll back the millage rates, 
which reduces the increase in tax revenues.  The City does realize all increases in tax revenue 
from new construction. 
 
Revenues  Property tax revenue budgeted for 2022 includes; $3,854,200 for the General 
Fund, consisting of $3,614,200 for general-operating purposes, $240,000 for solid-waste 
programs, which will now total $3,668,100, and $248,100 respectively. The Library Fund 
budgeted amount of $874,500 will now total $892,600 for the combined voter-approved and 
Council-approved millage rates.  The Right-of-Way Fund budgeted tax revenues of $1,861,000 
will now total $1,888,800.  
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Tax Revenue Analysis The following is a schedule of property tax revenue that will be 
collected for each fund based on millage rates included in the approved 2022 Annual Budget 
rolled back as required by the Headlee Amendment, at the taxable value now established for 
this year of $587,531,579. 
       
   Less  

 
Purpose 

Millage  
Rate 

Gross Tax 
Revenues 

TIFA  
Captures 

Township  
Act 425 

Net Tax 
Revenues 

General Operating 7.2306 $4,248,200 $204,700 $ 375,400 $3,668,100 
Solid waste 0.4890      287,300     13,900      25,300      248,100  
Library 1.7094       1,004,300          22.900      88,800          892,600 
Right-of-Way 3.7233   2,187,600    105,500   193,300   1,888,800 
 
Action  Enclosed is a proposed resolution that would establish the five property-tax-millage 
rates for 2022 and would authorize appropriations from such levies to the General Fund, 
Library Fund, and Right of Way Fund.  
 
 
 
 
at 
Enclosure 



  
   

                  Resolution 

 
 
WHEREAS, as required by City Charter provisions, the City Manager on November 1, 2021 
presented to the City Council the City's proposed annual budget for the 2022 fiscal year; and 
 
WHEREAS, as also required by City Charter provisions, the City Council on November 15, 
2021, conducted a public hearing to receive comments concerning the proposed budget, 
including rates of property-tax millages that had been estimated for levies during 2022; and 
 
WHEREAS, following its review of the proposed 2022 Annual Budget, and after conducting a 
public hearing to receive comments concerning the proposed budget and estimated tax 
levies, the City Council on November 15, 2021, approved the 2022 Annual Budget: 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City of Petoskey City Council does and 
hereby directs that there shall be raised through a general tax upon the taxable real and 
personal property within the City during the next summer tax levy for the year commencing 
January 1, 2022, millages in the amount of 7.2306 for general operating purposes, 0.4890 for 
solid-waste purposes, 1.7094 for library purposes, and 3.7233 for right-of-way purposes; and, 
when collected, proceeds from such levy are hereby appropriated to the General Fund, 
Library Fund, and Right-of-Way Fund; and 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the total aggregated amount of all such authorized 
millages shall total 13.1523 mills; and  
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that these various millages so ordered to be levied shall be 
certified by the City Clerk-Treasurer to the City Assessor and shall be levied and collected 
upon the taxable value of all taxable property within the City. 
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